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DECISION 

INTRODUCTION 

1. These appeals concern income tax decisions in relation to the first appellant, Mr James 

Keighley, and corporation tax and national insurance contribution decisions in relation to the 

second appellant Primeur Ltd (“the company”). 

First appellant 

2. The first appellant has accepted that he had used his company credit card for personal 

expenditure which was then settled by the company. But no adjustments were then made either 

in the accounts of the company or in relation to the first appellant’s personal tax return (the 

“credit card issue”). 

3. HMRC have issued discovery assessments based on deliberate behaviour going back to 

2001 (the first being for the tax year ended 5 April 2017). These assess an additional £177,043 

of tax on the appellant, and HMRC have also charge penalties based on deliberate behaviour, 

of £59,912. 

4. This also has a knock-on consequence for the company in relation to NICs. 

The company 

5. The first appellant owned shares in the company. He, as well as another shareholder in 

the company, also owned shares in a second company, Valley Dale Properties Ltd (“VDP”). 

The company and its shareholders made loans of money to VDP some of which it then wrote 

off following a sale of the assets of VDP. The companies did not consider that they were 

connected nor that the repayment of the loans had an unallowable purpose, and accordingly the 

company claimed a corporation tax loss on the write-off (the “loan relationship issue”). 

6. HMRC do not consider that this is a justifiable loss and accordingly have issued an 

assessment for the accounting period ending in December 2014 assessing an additional amount 

of tax of £36,456, together with a penalty of £7,140, and have closed an enquiry into the 

corporation tax return for the period ended December 2015, by increasing the company’s self-

assessment by £19,495, and have assessed the penalty for that period of £7,507. 

7. The closure notice for the December 2015 accounting period also includes an adjustment 

in relation to a petty cash deduction of £11,630. The company has deducted from its corporation 

tax in that period, amounts spent by the first appellant from petty cash. HMRC do not consider 

that this is expenditure which was incurred wholly and exclusively for the company’s trade and 

have accordingly adjusted the amount of the deduction by adding back £8,141 (the “petty cash 

issue”). 

8. HMRC have also assessed the company to NICs, and penalties, for the personal credit 

card expenditure incurred by the first appellant. 

NUTSHELLS 

9. We think it would be helpful at this stage to outline the parties’ respective positions in 

relation to the foregoing matters. 
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First appellant 

10. HMRC have issued the discovery assessments on the basis of deliberate behaviour going 

back to 2001. This is based on information received from the appellant in relation to tax years 

2013/14 to 2016/17. This enabled HMRC to assess additional remuneration for those years, but 

on the basis of the presumption of continuity, they have assessed the earlier years by adding 

back to those years amounts scaled in accordance with RPI. 

11. The first appellant submits that his behaviour was careless but not deliberate. The 

presumption of continuity should not be applied in this case because there was a significant 

change of practice in dealing with personal credit card expenditure in 2012. Furthermore, there 

had been an employer compliance review in 2012 which gave the appellants a clean bill of 

health. HMRC have not abided by their Statement of Practice 8/91 (“SP 8/91”). 

The company 

12. As regards the corporation tax loss resulting from the loan write-off, HMRC’s view is 

that the company and VDP were connected companies in the accounting periods in which that 

write-off took place. There were common shareholders who had the power to secure that the 

affairs of both companies were conducted in accordance with their wishes. And even if they 

were not so connected, that loan write-off was for an unallowable purpose. On the sale of the 

property by VDP, there was a shortfall against the money lent by the individual shareholders 

(unsecured) and the company (secured). The company, as secured creditor, should have been 

repaid in full. It was not. The repayments were abated pro-rata, so the individual shareholders, 

as unsecured creditors, took a disproportionate benefit. This reflects an unallowable purpose. 

13. The discovery assessment for the period to December 2014 is a valid discovery 

assessment. It was based on the careless behaviour of both the company and the company’s 

agent There was no agreement under section 54 Taxes Management Act 1970 (“section 54”)  

for that period which prevents HMRC issuing their assessment. 

14. It is for the company to show that the petty cash expenditure is wholly business-related 

and no satisfactory evidence has been provided to establish this. 

15. The company submits that HMRC issued a consequential amendment to an assessment 

which was under enquiry. This was procedurally incorrect but was held out and accepted by all 

parties to be an assessment to the 2014 return and its withdrawal constituted a section 54 

agreement. The matter was therefore settled by that agreement and cannot be reopened by 

HMRC.  

16. The company had not been careless when submitting its accounts for 2014 or its 

corporation tax return for that year as it had taken advice from Grant Thornton (“GT”) its 

accountants.  

17. That advice had been that the company and VDP were not connected and thus the 

company could take a loan relationship debit on the write-off of the loans. It was not carelessly 

given even though it did not address the unallowable purpose point. The discovery assessment 

for that period is therefore invalid and out of time. 

18. The company and VDP were not connected because the common shareholders could not 

procure that the affairs of both companies were conducted in accordance with their wishes. 

There was another shareholder in VDP whose influence was crucial.  
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19. On repayment of the loans, the company was in the position of unsecured creditor as the 

security had been released on the sale of the property owned by VDP. It was thus in the same 

position as the unsecured creditors who were not therefore preferred. There was no unallowable 

purpose for the write-off. 

20. By seeking and obtaining that advice, the company acted with reasonable care, and thus 

could not be impugned for a penalty for failing to act with reasonable care. 

21. It was impossible for the first appellant to provide receipts for all the petty cash 

expenditure claimed, and a full deduction should be allowed. 

22. We were very much assisted by the clear eloquent and helpful submissions made by Mr 

Smith, Mr Brothers, and Mr Marks, both written and oral. However, whilst we have considered 

the totality of the evidence, we have not found it necessary to refer to each and every argument 

advanced or all of the authorities cited by them in reaching our conclusions. 

THE LAW 

23. There was little dispute about the relevant law which applies to each of the issues 

mentioned. The dispute concerned the application of that law to the particular facts relating to 

each issue. We therefore set out the relevant law when we discuss each of the issues later in 

this decision. 

THE EVIDENCE AND FINDINGS OF FACT 

24. We were provided with a substantial bundle of documents. Oral evidence on behalf of 

HMRC was given by officer Christine Heatley (“Officer Heatley”). Oral evidence behalf of 

the appellants was given by the first appellant and by Mr Niel Sengupta (“Mr Sengupta”) who 

is currently a tax partner of the TC Group. He was formerly a partner in GT and he has worked 

for the company, VDP and their respective owners since 2005. From this evidence we find as 

follows: 

General background 

(1) The company was incorporated on 23 March 1990. The first appellant has been part of 

the senior management team of the company since 2002. The core business of the company is 

the sale of imported doormats. Suppliers are based all over the world and the first appellant 

spends considerable time abroad during each year. He needs to keep in close contact with 

suppliers. 

(2) VDP was established in 2000 to buy and hold as an investment a commercial property 

comprising offices and warehouses. It acquired the property which was then leased to the 

company and which the company used for its trade until 2010. The acquisition was funded by 

a bank loan secured by a mortgage. 

(3) At the material time, VDP had an issued share capital of £85,000 divided into one £1 

ordinary shares. 25,000 of those shares were held by each of the first appellant, Barry Minal 

(“BM”) and David Clayton. 10,000 shares were held by Andrew Murphy. 

(4) Following VDP’s acquisition of the property, the VDP shareholders made personal loans 

to VDP to help finance the building of a new office block and to generally upgrade its facilities. 

As at 4 September 2015, the total amount lent by the shareholders was approximately £466,000. 
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(5) VDP paid rent of approximately £300,000 per year to the company. The company 

charged VDP management expenses. As at 26 November 2010, there was an inter company 

balance owing from VDP to the company of £476,000. 

(6) Immediately prior to that date, the shares in the company were owned equally by the first 

appellant and BM. 

(7) On that date Mr Stephen Fearnley (“SF”) became an investor, shareholder and director 

of the company. 

(8) A subscription and shareholders agreement dated 26 November 2010 (“the shareholders 

agreement” more of which later) records that following SF’s investment, the first appellant 

and BM each owned 300 of the 600 issued A ordinary shares of the company, and SF owned 

all 400 of the issued B ordinary shares. 

(9) It also records that SF had lent the company £410,000. 

(10) In a letter dated 26 November 2010, the company, as lender, offered VDP a loan of 

£476,000 to be used by VDP for general working capital requirements (“the loan”). The loan 

was to be secured by a legal charge over land at Keighley.  Companies House form MG 01 

(Particulars of a Mortgage or Charge) records that on 26 November 2010, VDP charged, by 

way of legal mortgage, land at Keighley as security for all monies obligations and liabilities 

covenanted to be paid or discharged pursuant to the legal mortgage. We do not have a copy of 

the legal mortgage itself, but the property identified in that form is identical to the property 

identified in the letter of 26 November 2010 (the “loan agreement”). 

(11) The terms of the loan oblige VDP to repay the outstanding amount of the loan 

immediately upon any sale of substantially all of its assets. Any payments would be made 

without set off counterclaim and free from any withholding deductions. 

(12) In 2005 HMRC carried out a full tax investigation and audit into the company’s affairs, 

and in 2011/12, undertook a PAYE investigation and audit. As part of the latter, as requested 

by HMRC’s compliance caseworker in a letter of 17 November 2011, HMRC sought relevant 

information which included information about the company’s petty cash book receipts, and the 

company’s credit card statements and receipts and invoices. It also requested information 

regarding private credit card statements and receipts and invoices if used in the business and 

paid by the company. 

(13) On 10 January 2012, in respect of the employer compliance enquiry, a meeting took place 

between Mr Ian Brazier and the first appellant for the company and the investigating officers. 

We were provided with notes of that meeting (the “2012 meeting notes”). Those notes record 

that: HMRC were checking the systems which the company had in place to meet its statutory 

PAYE and NIC obligations; that any chargeable benefits had been included on P11Ds; the 

issues to be addressed included travel, subsistence and entertaining expenses; an examination 

of the records previously supplied indicated that issues in respect of directors and consultancy 

fees, redundancy payments, staff welfare, student loan deductions, petty cash, payable items 

and company vehicles needed further investigation. 

(14) HMRC’s compliance review was included in 2012 and no additional tax was found to be 

due with respect to either petty cash or use of company credit cards. 
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(15) On 26 May 2017, Officer Heatley wrote to the company explaining that she was carrying 

out a check of the company’s tax return for the accounting period ended 31 December 2015. 

(16) A meeting was arranged for 1 August 2017 which was attended by Mr Smith (working 

at that time for GT) as well as a representative from the company and HMRC officers. Notes 

of that meeting were subsequently provided as was the company’s electronic data requested by 

HMRC at the meeting. This data was reviewed by HMRC at the company’s premises in 

December 2017. That review generated a number of enquiries which were raised with company 

personnel at the time. 

(17) On 8 January 2018 GT made a disclosure to HMRC concerning irregularities with the 

first appellant’s use of the company credit card. They disclosed that it had been used for 

personal expenditure and those irregularities were quantified at £9,150. It was suggested that 

this should be treated as additional remuneration and payment on account made. 

(18) HMRC had identified a number (23) of issues that had been thrown up by their review 

and sought further information from the company’s agents. These issues included the credit 

card issue, the loan relationship issue and the petty cash issue. 

(19) HMRC issued information notices for further information on 14 May 2018, in response 

to which the company’s agent, Murray Harcourt, provided additional information on all three 

issues on 14 June 2018. 

(20) In August 2018, the evidence shows that the communications between the parties dealt 

with the loan relationship issue, and why the company thought that the loan write-off had been 

treated appropriately and that the tax loss was allowable; and that the agent was finalising its 

analysis of credit card expenditure for the years ended 2012, 2013, 2014 and 2016 and would 

provide that analysis to HMRC once completed. 

(21) On 15 October 2018, Officer Heatley asked for information including some in relation to 

company credit card statements along with the agents review of the credit card expenditure to 

which the agent responded on 5 December 2018. As regards the credit card expenditure, they 

made further disclosure of personal expenditure by the first appellant for £10,381, £11,111, 

£16,632, and £38,088 for the years ended December 2012, 2013, 2014 and 2016. The agent 

also provided a month by month analysis of petty cash together with the contemporaneous 

record of a recent trip abroad made by the first appellant. 

(22) A second meeting was held between representatives from the appellants and from HMRC 

on 22 February 2019. The parties maintained their respective positions on the three issues. 

Notes of that meeting were compiled by HMRC. 

(23) The first appellant maintained that he thought that all his personal spending company 

credit card had been returned on his forms P11D and that the company credit card statements 

had been checked and expenditure recorded against the correct nominal code. Officer Heatley 

thought however that the first appellant had not highlighted to the relevant person, personal 

expenditure on the statement so it would not have been possible for staff to identify which 

payments were private. So the company could not have made an accurate return. 

(24) There was also a discussion about penalties. 

(25) In her letter of 11 March 2019, Officer Heatley set out her technical analysis concerning 

the loan relationship issue and enclosed spreadsheets relating to the credit card issue which 
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included details of payments made from the first appellant’s credit card for five years ended 31 

December 2016. On 25 April 2019, the appellant’s agent responded substantively to that letter 

providing, in turn, their technical analysis in relation to control in respect of the loan 

relationship issue. They also referred, in relation to the credit card issue, to the 2011 employer 

compliance visit, and made further disclosures of personal expenditure for the years to 

December 2013 to 2016. An analysis was provided of petty cash payments without supporting 

evidence. 

(26) Following further correspondence in June 2019, Officer Heatley, on 2 August 2019, 

provided schedules for qualifying levels of business and personal payments from the first 

appellant’s company credit card, and on 3 October 2019 followed up that analysis by 

recalculating the additional remuneration with respect to tax years rather than in respect of the 

company’s accounting periods. She indicated that the additional remuneration to be assessed 

was £25,904 for tax year 2013/2014, £25,840 for 2014/2015, £37,257 for 2015/2016, and 

£47,057 for 2016/2017. She also explained that she would scale back to earlier years using RPI.  

(27) On 7 October 2019 Officer Heatley wrote to the first appellant explaining that she had 

quantified the level of personal spending on his company credit card on a tax year basis and 

intended to raise discovery assessments going back to 2001 on the basis of the presumption of 

continuity scaled back by RPI. 

(28) On 14 October 2019, assessments for the tax years 2000/2001-2016/2017, were sent to 

the first appellant and copied to his agent (the “October 2019 discovery assessments”). 

(29) On 18 October 2019, Officer Heatley sent a letter to the first appellant explaining her 

view of the penalty position. She explained that the behaviour that had led to the errors were 

deliberate. She explained how the penalty had been calculated and the reason she had given a 

discount for mitigation. 

(30) On 21 October 2019, Officer Heatley wrote to the company explaining that she had 

concluded her enquiry into the company’s tax return for the year ended 31 December 2015 and 

explaining that amendments were acquired arising from the connected party loan relationship 

rules, the add back of entertaining costs, and the disallowance of travel and subsistence claims. 

She also concluded that appropriate adjustment shall be made to the 2014 return in connection 

with the connected party loan relationship rules, and a modest amount of entertaining costs. 

Her view too was that the errors were a result of deliberate behaviour and explained why she 

was charging a penalty at 42% of the additional tax. She included a closure notice for the 2015 

accounting period with that letter. 

(31) In November 2019, penalty assessments were sent to the first appellant and the company 

(“the November 2019 penalty assessments”), and letters relating to NIC assessments to the 

company in respect of the additional remuneration arising from the private use of the credit 

card by the first appellant and BM. The company was also sent NIC penalty determinations 

and assessments. The company and the first appellant appealed against all of the assessments 

raised. 

The 2014 corporation tax assessment 

(32) No enquiry had been opened into the company’s accounting period ending 31 December 

2014. The company had filed a tax return in respect of that period. 
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(33) In a document issued on 15 October 2019 entitled “Agent copy of notice of amendment 

to a company tax return”, HMRC give notice that they had made amendments to figures, 

including the tax payable, on the company tax return, and assessed the further amount payable 

at £41,032.61 (the “revenue amendment”).  

(34) The appellant, through the agency of Mr Sengupta, appealed to HMRC against this 

revenue amendment on 29 October 2019. 

(35) In an email dated 18 August 2020, Officer Heatley told Mr Sengupta that in preparing 

for an upcoming tribunal hearing, HMRC had identified an administrative mistake with the 

COTAX system relating to the 2014 corporation tax assessment. The assessment dated 15 

October 2019 was raised as a revenue amendment and was going to be withdrawn. She went 

on to imply that HMRC would issue a discovery assessment using the correct COTAX 

function, and associated penalty determination. She went on to seek clarification of certain of 

the appellants’ behaviours. 

(36) On 23 October 2020 HMRC issued an assessment in respect of the 2014 accounting 

period. It was entitled “Assessment to make good to the Crown a loss of tax”. It identified the 

tax due as being £74,727.85 (the “October 2020 discovery assessment”). 

(37) In a letter dated 27 October 2020, Officer Heatley explained why she had made that 

assessment. She explained that she had discovered errors in the relevant tax return, and that the 

previous assessment for that year, raised on 15 October 2019, “has been vacated as this was 

raised incorrectly as an amendment to your return rather than as a discovery assessment. You 

will also receive notification of this”. 

(38) In a document entitled “agent copy of notice to amendment to a company tax return”, 

dated 27 October 2020, HMRC provided a notice showing amendments that they had made to 

the company’s tax figures for the period ending 31 December 2014. It identified the amount 

payable as £41,960.03, and at the end of page 3 states “Please see email correspondence 

confirming this represents cancellation of previous amendment dated 15/10/19. The appeal is 

determined under S 54 Taxes Management Act 1970”. 

(39) The replacement of the revenue amendment by the October 2020 discovery assessment 

had a knock-on consequence for the 2014 penalty assessment. In a letter of 23 November 2020, 

Officer Heatley explained to the company that in her view it was appropriate to vacate and 

reissue that assessment. 

(40) The new penalty assessment was issued on 24 November 2020, and the company 

appealed against it on 30 November 2020. 

The loan repayments, the GT report and carelessness 

(41) Clause 11 of the shareholders agreement deals with certain specific actions which may 

not be taken by the company save with “Majority Consent”. Majority Consent requires consent 

by 90% of the shareholders, for which purpose the A and B shares are treated as a single class. 

In other words, for the company to effect these actions, all three shareholders would need to 

vote in favour. 

(42) These actions include the issue of any debenture or loan note; the creation of any 

mortgage over the company’s assets; the making of any loan by the company or the creation, 

renewal or extension of any borrowings by the company; permitting any transaction by the 



 

8 

 

company with any shareholder or associated company shareholder; allowing the company to 

transact outside its ordinary course of trading; settling any litigation; paying dividends; 

occupying property; and establishing any profit related, share option, or pension scheme for a 

director or employee of the company. 

(43) Clause 14 of the shareholders agreement deals with repayment of loans. Undertakings 

are given by the company and the A shareholders that loans made by those shareholders will 

not be repaid unless certain conditions have been met (the first two instalments of a loan paid 

by SF have been repaid, senior bank given consent, SF is satisfied that the company will have 

working capital of £200,000 and that the repayment of the final instalment of his loan would 

not be prejudiced). 

(44) The A shareholders also give undertakings to SF that as long as the SF loan is 

outstanding, they will refrain from doing certain things without his consent.  

(45) In 2010, but after SF had introduced his capital, it became apparent that VDP had 

financial difficulties. It had been unable to find a further tenant for the property and had 

difficulty in finding a potential buyer. The VDP directors realised the property would have to 

be sold at a loss and provided for an impairment loss of £94,579 on the loan made in 2010 and 

wrote off an additional £72,520 of the post 2010 balance. A total impairment adjustment of 

£167,099 was recognising the company’s December 2014 profit and loss account. 

(46) The company’s accounts for the year ended 31 December 2014 had been signed off by 

the directors on 26 June 2015. Those accounts record that: VDP was a company controlled by 

the first appellant and BM; the loan to VDP of £476,449 had been written down to £381,870 

as at 31 December 2014 as this was considered to be the recoverable amount; the company had 

outstanding loans from the first appellant and BM; during the accounting period, dividends had 

been paid to the first appellant and to BM. 

(47) In August 2015, VDP sold its property to a third party for £2.35 million. Mr Sengupta’s 

evidence was that prior to that sale, whilst with GT, he along with his tax team advised VDP 

of the tax aspects of that sale. A draft report was compiled by GT and sent to VDP/the company 

in advance of the meeting at which the report was discussed. 

(48) The draft report is addressed to VDP and is dated “XX August 2015”. It records that the 

sale of the property has taken place and the proceeds would be used to settle outstanding 

balances owed and clear down the bank loans. The directors envisaged that there will be 

insufficient cash remaining to pay all creditors in full and were proposing to partly repay the 

loans from the first appellant and the VDP shareholders, but repay all other creditors in full. 

(49) At the time, the rough amounts owed to the lenders were £158,692 to David Clayton; 

£134,222 to the first appellant; £134,222 to BM; £58,129 to Andrew Murphy, and £621,316 to 

the company comprising £476,000 of secured debt and a further £133,000 described as “trading 

balance”. 

(50) The figures in the draft GT report are slightly different as regards the first appellant (they 

do not include the trading balance). However, two repayment profiles were suggested, one in 

which there was a pro rata amount of loan repaid, and the second another proposed repayment 

profile. Under the former, all lenders would receive 68.8% of their loans. Under the latter, the 

first appellant, BM, and the company trading balance would be paid in full. Mr Clayton and 

Mr Murphy would be paid 68.8% of their outstanding loans. Only 45.2% of the secured loan 

from the company would be repaid. 
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(51) The GT report considered the tax implications if the loan between the company and VDP 

was written off. It explained the general loan relationship provisions on a write-off where the 

lender can take a debit and the borrower should recognise a taxable credit. It went on to explain 

the exception to this where the two parties to a loan relationship are connected. It recorded the 

definition of connection at section 466 Corporation Tax Act 2009 (“CTA 2009”). 

(52)  It records that “as previously advised, it is doubtful that [the company] and VDP are 

connected under the loan relationship rules. The company does not hold any shares in VDP 

directly and there is no one individual who on his own controls the company either through the 

holding of shares, voting power or any powers attaching to any documents regulating the 

company”. 

(53) It goes on to say that “if the balance of the formal loan outstanding after part payment by 

VDP is written off and this is reflected in the profit and loss account for the company in 

accordance with GAAP than the net debt arising from the write-off, being £93K will be a 

Corporation tax-deductible expense for the company”. It also records that the write-off of the 

loan would result in additional corporation tax payable by VDP of £52.2 K. It notes that this 

could leave VDP in a position where it has corporation tax to pay but no cash remaining to pay 

the liability to HMRC. 

(54) The report recommends that the loans should be repaid in accordance with the proposed 

repayment profile, and the balance should be written off by VDP as part of a statutory 

insolvency arrangement or in connection with one of a number of other conditions which 

protect the borrower from an obligation to bring a credit into account. 

(55) As things turned out, the first appellant and BM were repaid their outstanding amounts 

in full.  In rough numbers; David Clayton was paid £121,479, Andrew Murphy was paid 

£43,245, and the company was repaid £365,790. 

(56) The final GT report is dated for September 2015 (“the GT report”) and is, in all material 

respects, identical to the draft report. In neither the draft report nor the final report is 

unallowable purpose mentioned, let alone considered.  

(57) Furthermore, neither the draft report nor the final report records that the company’s loan 

to VDP was a secured loan. 

(58) The GT report was commissioned on the instructions of Mr Ian Brazier, the finance 

director of the company, and it was to him that GT sent the final report on 4 September 2015. 

The report is expressed to relate to “the loans from [the company] and the Directors of VDP”. 

(59) It was Mr Sengupta’s evidence that the loan relationship analysis in the GT report had 

been undertaken by GT’s national loan relationship specialist; he disagreed that the omission 

from the report that the company’s loan was secured was relevant; there was no evidence that 

the first appellant and BM worked together to control the second appellant and VDP either 

expressly nor impliedly; he did not feel that unallowable purpose was relevant to these 

transactions and that is why it did not appear in the GT report; this was based on his experience 

of working in the field of mergers and acquisitions for many years where unallowable purpose 

was a regular issue; the GT specialist was also experienced in this area and given therefore its 

omission from the report, it is clear that that individual also thought that unallowable purpose 

was not relevant; the ordering of payments to preferential creditors who were directors of VDP 

was not dealt with in the report; the repayments were not made in accordance with the loan 

agreement that the first appellant’s loan should be repaid first. 
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(60) Mr Sengupta had taken Counsel’s opinion in March 2020. That opinion was that the 

company and VDP were not connected for the purpose of the loan relationship rules and that 

the unallowable purpose provisions did not apply. 

(61) It was the first appellant’s evidence that SF had made a considerable amount of money 

in the retail world and was interested in assisting the first appellant to turn around its fortunes. 

He had a lot of influence on the company and was involved one or two days a week and 

occupied the position of chairman. He agreed that the company should waive repayment of 

some of its loan to VDP. He was delighted by the efforts of the first appellant and BM in getting 

as much as they did from the sale of the VDP property, and this is one of the reasons that he 

agreed to the distribution of the sale proceeds in which they were paid out in full.  

(62) The first appellant also confirmed that the justification for him and BM being repaid in 

full was the recognition by the other VDP directors and the other VDP lenders for the work 

that they had done for VDP in ensuring that the property sale went through and dealing with 

the negotiations and time-consuming sales process. Without this work the property would never 

have been sold and there would have been no funds with which to repay any of the lenders. He 

confirmed that this was a commercial rationale and justification as to why he and BM should 

take priority and have their loans repaid in full. 

(63) However, he accepted that the company’s decision not to enforce its full entitlement to 

repayment of the loan was not in the company’s best business and commercial interests. 

(64) It was also his oral evidence that advice had been taken regarding the connected party 

issues before the submission of the company’s 2014 accounts. However, no corroboration was 

provided of this assertion. 

(65) Officer Heatley’s evidence on this point was that in her view the company and VDP were 

connected as they were controlled by the same person for the periods in question. The meaning 

of person can be extended to persons as a result of the Interpretation Act 1978. Given that the 

first appellant and BM jointly held the majority of both company’s shareholdings and voting 

power, they could have ensured that both company’s affairs were controlled in accordance with 

their wishes. 

Oral evidence re credit card processing 

(66) It was Officer Heatley’s evidence that: She had established that more than 50% of the 

first appellant’s credit card spend was for personal use; to arrive at accurate figures for an 

assessment, she used data provided by the first appellant’s agent including credit card 

statements for the period 1 January 2013 to 5 April 2017; she was also provided with a schedule 

of all overseas business trips and payments made on the first appellant’s company credit card 

for flights, accommodation and meals relating thereto; she based her assessments on an analysis 

of this information. 

(67) It was the first appellant’s evidence that: he had used his credit card for personal expenses 

but these had been fully disclosed to HMRC; prior to 2011/2012, the use of the credit card was 

minimal as the company was in financial difficulty; at that time, the company had a large and 

experienced finance team who analysed credit card statements and ensured that expenditure 

was posted correctly; this was the responsibility of a long-standing employee called Karen; 

Karen would code the credit card expenditure to different codes on a nominal ledger and any 

personal expenditure would be put in a spreadsheet; he thought the benefit at the end of the tax 

year had been included on his P11D; due to financial difficulties in 2012, Karen ceased to be a 
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member of that team; he accepted that the initial disclosure of personal expenditure was only 

around £9,000 for 2015, but by the end of the exchange of correspondence with HMRC, this 

had increased to an amount of approximately £113,000 between 2012 and 2016; he did not 

know that personal expenditure had been omitted from his tax returns; he accepts that this is 

careless but not deliberate behaviour; after 2012, credit card statements which were given to 

the company’s staff were passed for payment without processing; so the detailed analysis which 

was taking place before 2012, was not taking place thereafter; he accepted that he knew of this 

revised process but continued with it; however he thought that his personal expenses would be 

coded out; since 2017, the company has revamped its procedure for analysing credit card 

statements and the finance team now receive a thorough analysis from the first appellant of his 

expenditure and whether that expenditure is private or business. 

Petty cash 

(68) The appellant drew £11,630 from petty cash when visiting suppliers in India and Sri 

Lanka. He often attended those suppliers with another member of staff, and the money taken 

from petty cash was used to pay business visas, tips, taxes, lunches, drinks and general 

incidental expenses. Cash was required as there was no other way to pay for these. It was not 

possible to obtain receipts. In his view all of this cash was used wholly for business purposes. 

(69) Officer Heatley took the view that as the company was unable to provide any evidence 

to substantiate that the cash withdrawn was subsequently used for business purposes, she 

should take a pragmatic approach. She acknowledged that it was possible that cash may be 

required for taxi fares and tips and it may be difficult to obtain documentary evidence. She 

therefore allowed 30% of the petty cash as business expenditure but thought that the balance 

(£8,141) was for personal expenditure. 

Penalties 

(70) The penalties that have visited on the first appellant are based on deliberate behaviour. 

The penalties which have been visited on the company are based on careless and deliberate 

behaviour. 

(71) Officer Heatley’s view is that a penalty for deliberate behaviour is justified in the case of 

the first appellant as; he knew that he was constantly using his company credit card for personal 

use, but then no reimbursement to the company to cover this personal spending nor did he make 

any return of the benefit himself; although he claims that his personal expenditure was returned 

to HMRC on form P11D, he must have realised that this was not possible because he had not 

identified items of personal expenditure on his credit card statements and thus it would not 

have been possible for company personnel to have done so; proper processes were put in place 

for other employees but not for him. The same behaviour justifies the NIC penalty.  

(72) Officer Heatley’s view is that the penalty for careless behaviour is justified in the case of 

the second appellant as; the first appellant and BM knew that they were preferential creditors 

compared to the company which had a loan secured against the property sold by VDP; and by 

preferring those preferential creditors, they knew that the company would suffer a loss; their 

joint shareholding and voting power meant that they had control of both companies.  

(73) As regards petty cash, her view was that since the company had no controls in place to 

verify how the cash withdrawn was being spent and would have been aware of the need to 

retain records for that purpose, a careless penalty is justifiable. 
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DISCUSSION 

THE CREDIT CARD ISSUE 

25. The appellant accepts that he used his company credit card to fund personal expenditure. 

He accepts that this is the case between 2012 and 2017, and that in this regard, his behaviour 

has been careless. 

26. HMRC however think differently. They think that he has used his company credit card 

to fund personal expenditure since 2001. In October 2019 they issued discovery assessments 

for £177,043. In November 2019 HMRC also issued penalty assessments based on deliberate 

behaviour for £59,912. 

27. In calculating the additional income tax, HMRC have taken the personal expenditure for 

the years 2012 to 2017, and extrapolated backwards using RPI, under the principle of the 

presumption of continuity. 

28. There are, therefore, two primary issues which we need to determine. The first is whether 

the behaviour which resulted in the underassessment of income tax on the appellant is 

deliberate behaviour or careless behaviour. The significance, of course, is that if it is the former 

the extended 20 year time period within which HMRC can issue a discovery assessment comes 

into play. If the behaviour was only careless, the time period is limited to 6 years following the 

end of the year of assessment to which it relates. 

29. If we decide that the behaviour was deliberate, then we need to consider the second issue, 

namely whether the presumption of continuity applies at all and if it does, whether it has been 

properly applied in the circumstances of these discovery assessments. 

30. The appellant also raises a subsidiary issue, namely that as a result of the compliance 

check in 2011/2012, which effectively gave the first appellant and the company a clean bill of 

health regarding the former’s use of his credit card, HMRC are effectively estopped from 

issuing their October 2019 discovery assessments under the provisions of SP 8/91. 

Burden of proof 

31. The parties agree that the burden of proving that the discovery assessments were valid in 

time assessments rests with HMRC, who therefore have the burden of establishing deliberate 

behaviour. They also have the burden of establishing that as far as the penalty is concerned, 

there was an inaccuracy attributable to deliberate (or in default careless) behaviour. The 

standard of proof is the civil standard, namely the balance of probabilities. 

32. Given that the appellant has admitted careless behaviour, and that the October 2019 

discovery assessments were raised on 14 October 2019, it is HMRC’s view that they must 

therefore be valid for all periods from 5 April 2014 to 5 April 2017. 

The law 

33. The law on this issue is clear and is not in dispute. To the extent that the credit card has 

been used for unreimbursed personal expenditure, that expenditure is treated as earnings and 

is thus liable to income tax and NICs. 

34. Where HMRC discover that income which ought to have been assessed has not been so 

assessed, or that there has been an insufficiency in an assessment to income tax, they may make 
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an assessment to make good that tax or that insufficiency. The general time period within which 

such a discovery assessment must be made is not more than 4 years after the end of the year of 

assessment to which it relates. This 4 year period is extended to 6 years where the loss of tax 

was brought about carelessly by the taxpayer, and to 20 years where the loss of tax is brought 

about deliberately by the person. 

Deliberate behaviour 

Case law  

35. The meaning of “deliberate” in the context of direct tax returns was considered by the Supreme 

Court in its decision in Tooth v. HMRC [2021] UKSC 17. The court drew a distinction between 

(i) a deliberate statement which is (in fact) inaccurate or (ii) a statement which, when made, 

was deliberately inaccurate. At [43] the court stated that the second of those interpretations is 

to be preferred: 

43.  We have no hesitation in concluding that the second of those interpretations is to be 

preferred, for the following reasons. First, it is the natural meaning of the phrase “deliberate 

inaccuracy”. Deliberate is an adjective which attaches a requirement of intentionality to the 

whole of that which it describes, namely “inaccuracy”. An inaccuracy in a document is a 

statement which is inaccurate. Thus, the required intentionality is attached both to the 

making of the statement and to its being inaccurate. 

36. At [45] the court considered that the meaning of “deliberate” in relation to “discovery 

assessments” had the same meaning as used in relation with penalties: 

45.  Thirdly, the penalty scheme in Schedule 24 to the Finance Act 2007 had, shortly before the 

relevant amendments were made to section 29 (including section 118(7)), used the same 

concept of deliberate inaccuracy for the purpose of triggering penalties more serious than 

those arising from carelessness, at altogether higher levels of blameworthy conduct (even 

though subdivided by reference to the presence or absence of concealment). It seems 

inconceivable that Parliament would have chosen the same language to serve as the 

gateway to the longest available period of exposure to a discovery assessment, if the 

phrase was to be interpreted as meaning only that the statement was intentionally made. 

37. The court summarised its conclusions at [47]: 

47.  It may be convenient to encapsulate this conclusion by stating that, for  there to be a 

deliberate inaccuracy in a document within the meaning of  section 118(7) there will have to be 

demonstrated an intention to mislead the  Revenue on the part of the taxpayer as to the truth 

of the relevant statement  or, perhaps, (although it need not be decided on this appeal) 

recklessness as to  whether it would do so. 

38. We were also referred to Chohan Management Limited v HMRC [2021] UKFTT 196 (TC) at 

[112] to [113]: 

112.  […] It is dishonest for a person deliberately to shut their eyes to facts which they would 

prefer not to know. If he or she does so, they are taken to have actual knowledge of the facts 

to which they shut their eyes. Such knowledge has been described as "Nelsonian” or 

“blind-eye” knowledge.  Although not cited to me, Lord Scott in Manifest Shipping 

Company Limited v. Uni-Polaris Shipping Company Limited and Others [2001] UKHL 

1 at [112] said the following about blind-eye knowledge: 
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"Blind-eye" knowledge approximates knowledge. Nelson at the battle of Copenhagen 

made a deliberate decision to place the telescope to his blind eye in order to avoid seeing 

what he knew he would see if he placed it to his good eye. It is, I think, common ground 

- and if it is not, it should be - that an imputation of blind-eye knowledge requires 

an amalgam of suspicion that certain facts may exist and a decision to refrain from 

taking any step to confirm their existence. Lord Blackburn in   (1877) 2 App Cas  616, 

629 distinguished a person who was "honestly blundering and  careless" from a person 

who "refrained from asking questions, not because  he was an honest blunderer or a stupid 

man, but because he thought in his  own secret mind - I suspect there is something wrong, 

and if I ask questions  and make farther inquiry, it will no longer be my suspecting 

it, but my  knowing it, and then I shall not be able to recover". Lord Blackburn 

added “I think that is dishonesty". 

113.  I find that the principles articulated by Lord Scott relating to blind-eye knowledge are 

applicable to the subjective assessment of knowledge for the purposes of Schedule 24 and are 

binding upon me. The fact that the relevant individual in Clynes had a professional accounting 

qualification was not relevant to the decision of the Tribunal, rather it was the fact that 

the individual consciously and intentionally chose not to find out the correct position. 

Submissions on deliberate behaviour 

39. On the deliberate behaviour issue, Mr Marks submitted, in summary, as follows: 

(1) The first appellant has admitted that he used his company credit card to pay for personal 

expenditure. This was not just the smaller items, but for family holidays, flights, hotels and 

meals. He made no reimbursement to the company to cover this private expenditure, nor did 

he make any return of the benefits himself. 

(2) His claim that he thought that the expenses had been included on his form P11D cannot be right 

given that he did not tell those who were responsible for completing the form, what his personal 

expenditure was. 

(3) He was not forthcoming during the enquiry about this, since he initially admitted personal 

expenditure of a small amount of £9,000 or so in 2015 which then increased to over £113,000 from 

2012 to 2017. 

(4) He would have known what personal expenditure he incurred. And would therefore have known 

that the £9,000 or so in 2015 was not the full extent of his personal expenditure between 2012 and 

2017. 

(5) This is a substantial sum. And indeed, in the 2016 tax year, the £38,000 or so personal 

expenses was more than he had earned as salary in that year. He must, therefore, have known 

that his tax returns underdeclared the personal benefit he received from the company. 

(6) There was no evidence that there was a system in place which obliged the first appellant 

to reimburse the company for the personal expenditure. 

(7) There is no evidence of the first appellant completing any expenses forms. He provided 

no evidence that he submitted any schedules or details to the company to conduct the coding 

out exercise which he says he thought was being carried out. In HMRC’s view, that only started 

in 2017, and given that the first appellant did not tell the individuals who were responsible for 
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this coding out exercise, what the nature of the personal expenditure was, it would have been 

impossible for that exercise to have been carried out accurately. And the appellant knew this. 

(8) No one at the company checked his expenses or signed them off. He simply used the 

credit card when he liked, and the company paid the monthly payments. The first appellant 

knew that he was using his credit card for personal expenses and knew that he was not 

accounting to the company for them. He also knew that he was not returning these personal 

expenses on his self-assessment tax return. This is deliberate behaviour. 

(9) The 2011/2012 compliance check was into the company’s position and not into the 

position of the first appellant. It focussed on a number of things, not just the use of company 

credit cards. It was not, as submitted by the first appellant, any recognition that the way in 

which the first appellant and the company were dealing with the first appellant’s private 

expenses was an acceptable one. 

40. On the deliberate behaviour issue Mr Smith submitted, in summary, as follows: 

(1) The company is a small family business. The first appellant is a creature of habit. Karen, 

who was responsible for dealing with the first appellant’s credit card expenditure would 

therefore have known of the first appellant’s private spending without the need to be 

specifically told, either orally or by some form of schedule. 

(2) The employer compliance review clearly included a review of the use of the company 

credit card by the directors. And gave the process undertaken by the company in 2011/2012, a 

clean bill of health. It was not unreasonable therefore that the process adopted before 2012 was 

maintained thereafter. 

(3) However, in 2012 a number of changes took place which led to the errors which occurred 

between 2012 and 2017. Most significantly, personnel who had dealt with the relevant 

administration before then (in particular Karen who had been with the company for many 

years) left. Following that, and the loss of her experience, things “slipped” with the result that 

errors were made to which the first appellant has agreed were careless on his part (he accepts 

that he should have checked the process on a periodic basis). 

(4) But it was entirely reasonable in the circumstances that the first appellant thought that 

there was a robust process in place to deal with his personal credit card expenditure which he 

thought had been confirmed by HMRC. Whilst it might have been misguided, he was not 

cavalier, nor “not bothered with establishing the correct position”. He thought he was entitled 

to rely on the process in place. 

Our view on deliberate behaviour 

41. In order to establish that the inaccuracy in the first appellant’s returns was deliberate 

inaccuracy, HMRC have to show an intention on the part of the first appellant to mislead 

HMRC as to the truth or accuracy of the information set out in his tax return. And, in our view, 

this extends not just the actual knowledge regarding the truth or accuracy of information, but 

also where the taxpayer has blind eye knowledge as defined above. 

42. It is our view that the first appellant had actual if not blind eye knowledge that the tax 

returns did not accurately record the additional remuneration arising from his use of the 

company credit card to satisfy personal expenditure for the period 2013-2017. We say this for 

a number of reasons. 
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43. It is abundantly clear that the appellant made extensive use of his company credit card to 

settle personal expenditure. It is clear on the evidence of the figures supplied by the first 

appellant’s agent for the period 2013-2017. Indeed, the first appellant accepts this, and accepts 

that the additional remuneration reflected by this personal expenditure was not included on his 

tax returns. But says that this behaviour was careless. 

44. There is no doubt that there was an inaccuracy in the tax returns. 

45. The level of personal expenditure, however, was extremely high both in absolute and 

relative terms. The first appellant does not deny that in the 2015-2016 tax year, his personal 

expenditure exceeded his salary. We were told that the first appellant’s tax return was drafted 

by the company and the company’s accountants who then returned it to the first appellant for 

checking and signature. 

46. The first appellant’s evidence was that he thought that the personal expenditure was being 

“coded out”, by which we think he means that there was a change to his tax code so that the 

amount of tax that should have been collected on his personal expenditure was being collected 

through the PAYE system. 

47. But we do not accept this evidence. If this was the case, then this would have been 

apparent to the first appellant when checking his tax return. And he would quickly have seen 

that no such tax credit had been given for the tax paid under the PAYE system against the tax 

which he had to report on the “personal expenditure remuneration” in his tax return. 

48. And we think it unlikely that, given the level of personal expenditure, the first appellant 

did not notice that it had not been included in his tax return when he was checking its accuracy. 

We find it difficult to believe that in a year where the personal expenditure exceeded his salary, 

the appellant did not notice, let alone question, why the tax payable in that year did not include 

tax payable on the personal expenditure. 

49. In our view the reason is that the appellant found it convenient not to do so. Had he 

questioned it, he would have uncovered an uncomfortable truth, namely that he was liable to 

pay a considerable amount of tax on the personal expenditure. It is our view that he decided to 

keep his head down. 

50. There was a suggestion that there was a system in place to ensure coding out, and that 

system which was in place before 2012 broke down as a result of the changes of personnel in 

or around that time. Somewhat confusingly, the first appellant’s evidence was also that there 

needed to be no system in place before 2012 since he was a creature of habit and Karen would 

have known about his personal expenditure without needing input from him. 

51. On this latter point we are unconvinced. We think it inherently unlikely that Karen would 

have known the full extent of the personal expenditure which the first appellant incurred. And 

he would have needed to provide considerable input into the nature of that expenditure. 

52. But more importantly the first appellant’s evidence was notwithstanding that he knew of 

the changes in personnel in 2012, he simply carried on behaving towards the reporting of his 

personal expenditure, as he had before 2012. He did not check whether the coding out which 

he alleged he thought was happening before 2012, continued thereafter. He never questioned 

why he was not being asked to verify private expenditure which he (again somewhat 

confusingly) claims he was asked to verify prior to 2012. 
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53. This, again, suggests to us that the first appellant knew that he was required to report the 

private expenditure which he had incurred on his company credit card to HMRC, and yet knew, 

too, that there was no system in place to identify private expenditure and to report it to HMRC. 

And he never sought to question the system because it was convenient for him not to do so. 

This was blind eye knowledge and, in our view, resulted in inaccurate tax returns which were 

intended to mislead HMRC. 

54. No corroborating oral or documentary evidence has been provided to support the first 

appellant’s assertion that he completed schedules, either before or after 2012 (but before 2017) 

which identified personal and business expenditure on his credit card. We find as a fact that no 

such schedules were completed between 2012 and 2017. 

55. We do not accept, either, that because the first appellant thought that the employer 

compliance enquiry in 2011/2012 had given the way in which he and the company accounted 

for tax for personal expenditure incurred on its company credit card, a “clean bill of health”, 

he and the company could operate in the same way after 2012 with impunity. 

56. This flies in the face of the first appellant’s recognition that the system changed in 2012 

with the departure of key personnel, and so the analysis which he alleges was being carried out 

before 2012 was not being carried out after 2012 (to his knowledge). Yet he did not question 

why he was not being asked to clarify private expenditure. To our mind he simply kept his head 

down as it was expedient for him to do so. 

57. There was absolutely nothing wrong with the first appellant using his company credit 

card to pay personal expenses. And this is the case even if there was no formal procedure in 

place either to provide prior approval for those expenses, or for reimbursement to the company 

once they had been incurred. But in these circumstances, it was incumbent on the first appellant, 

given it was only he who knew the extensive level of that personal expenditure, to ensure that, 

in the absence of reimbursement, the expenditure was identified to HMRC and tax paid on it. 

For the foregoing reasons, it is our view that the first appellant’s failure to ensure that the 

personal expenditure was properly and accurately reported arises from deliberate behaviour on 

his part. 

Presumption of continuity 

Case law 

58. The lead case regarding the presumption of continuity is Jonas v Bamford [1973] STC 

519 in which the principle is described as follows: 

 “… Once the Inspector comes to the conclusion that, on the facts which he has 

discovered, [the appellant] has additional income beyond that which he has so far 

declared to the Inspector, then the usual presumption of continuity will apply. The 

situation will be presumed to go on until there is some change in the situation, the onus 

of proof of which is clearly upon the taxpayer”. 

Submissions on the presumption of continuity 

59. On the presumption of continuity, Mr Marks submitted, in summary, as follows: 

(1) Officer Heatley’s approach was entirely proper. She decided to use a 2014 error as the 

base error and scale back using RPI. This was a reasonable thing for her to do given that the 

appellant had admitted that he used the company credit card to pay for personal expenses before 
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2012, and there was no evidence to suggest that the errors in 2001 to 2011 were either absent 

or of a lower amount. 

(2) It is inherently unlikely that someone would go from having zero personal expenditure 

in 2012. Yet this is what the first appellant appears to be arguing on the basis that prior to 2012, 

the company could not afford it. 

(3) This position is apparently inconsistent with his assertions that prior to 2012 he was using 

his company credit card for personal expenditure, but the 2011/2012 compliance check gave 

him a clean bill of health. And that the process that had been used before then, which involved 

Karen, was that she would code out the private expenses, return them on his P11D, and in some 

way that would satisfy his reporting requirement. 

(4) The appellant has made little or no effort to ascertain the level of private spending on his 

credit card prior to 2013/2014. His evidence was that he had not attempted to get credit card 

statements before 2011.  

(5) Only the first appellant knows the true extent of his personal expenditure. HMRC suggest 

that it is more likely than not that the RPI adjustment on which the assessments are based, is 

correct. 

(6) And indeed, given that the first appellant has submitted no alternative figures, if we are 

to find that the presumption of continuity applies, then we are obliged to uphold the 

assessments in the absence of any better evidence of actual private expenditure submitted by 

the first appellant. 

(7) The onus is on the appellant to show a break in continuity. 

(8) The 2011/2012 employer compliance enquiry, and the conclusion of it does not provide 

such a break. Even though credit card statements might have been submitted to that enquiry 

there is no evidence that the investigating officer concluded that there was no personal 

expenditure and “signed it off”. Furthermore, there was also an admitted error in 2012 of over 

£10,000, which was whilst the compliance enquiry was ongoing and had not yet concluded. 

This militates against the fact that the compliance enquiry did, as asserted by the first appellant, 

give him a clean bill of health. 

(9) There was no break in continuity given the change of personnel which occurred in 2012. 

Until 2012, Karen dealt with the expenditure on the company credit cards. When she left no 

one filled the void. There was no evidence of this change of personnel, nor that there was an 

experienced team in place prior to 2012 and not thereafter. 

(10) The fact that there was a lower credit limit on the card prior to 2011 is a red herring. It 

does not mean a reduced ability to spend money. This credit card limit does not break 

continuity. Nor does the changing financial position of the company. Administrative expenses 

are remarkably consistent from 2001 (£2.7 million) to 2016 (£2.7 million). The financial 

position of the company does not break continuity. 

60. On the presumption of continuity, Mr Smith submitted, in summary, as follows:  

(1) HMRC’s submission that the first appellant incurred no personal expenditure in 2012 is 

inherently unlikely, is misconceived. In 2012 the first appellant thought that the personal 

expenditure that he had incurred using his company credit card, was being coded out. 
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(2) The first appellant made no admission at the meeting of 22 February 2019 that, as 

asserted by HMRC, he had used the company credit card for personal expenditure for the years 

5 April 2001 to 2013. There is no such record of that admission in the notes of that meeting. 

(3) There is clear evidence that the situation that led the first appellant to make disclosures 

of personal expenditure on the company credit card had a definite starting point which is in 

respect of the year ended 31 December 2012. 

(4) The employer compliance enquiry which concluded a year-long investigation into the 

company’s employer compliance record had specifically looked at the issue of company credit 

card operation and gave the process around the operation of the company credit card a clean 

bill of health in that no adjustments were required in respect of it. 

(5) Furthermore, if HMRC are now saying that notwithstanding that the investigating officer 

had the statements, and she did not properly analyse them, this is not reflected in the 2012 

meeting notes. They show that the enquiry lasted for 11 months; all systems for PAYE 

compliance were checked; all benefits in kind were properly reported on P11D; she specifically 

wanted to consider travel subsistence and entertaining. 

(6) By 2012 the credit limit on the company credit card had been increased which meant that 

the card had the capacity to absorb personal expenditure whereas before then any personal 

expenditure would have been to the detriment of the company (if the first appellant had used 

the card for personal expenditure, it may not have had the capacity to meet business 

expenditure). 

(7) The main issue which led to the inaccuracies occurring after 2012 was the change in 

personnel within the company’s finance team which took place in 2012. 

(8) The administrative expenses and gross profit were not remarkably consistent as asserted 

by HMRC and indeed those items shed little or no light on whether there has been a break in 

continuity. 

(9) HMRC have made no use of their third party information notice powers to seek to obtain 

details from the credit card companies of the first appellant’s expenditure on his company credit 

card. 

(10) Due to the foregoing changes, if the presumption of continuity does apply, then it ends 

in 2011/2012 when the changes described took place and the employer compliance enquiry 

ended. 

Our view on the presumption of continuity 

61. The methodology adopted by Officer Heatley when making the October 2019 discovery 

assessments, namely taking the figures for personal expenditure provided by the first 

appellant’s agent, and extrapolating backwards, using RPI for periods prior to 2013, is a 
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reasonable methodology and we find that the October 2019 discovery assessments are best 

judgment assessments. 

62. The burden of establishing, therefore, that these assessments overcharge the first 

appellant, falls upon the first appellant. He must show that it is more likely than not that the 

assessments overcharge him. 

63. Mr Smith makes a number of submissions suggesting that a clear line in the sand can be 

drawn in 2012, which makes it improper to use the presumption of continuity to assess personal 

expenditure prior to that date. 

64.  Prior to that date, the first appellant thought that his personal expenditure was being 

coded out. But, with the greatest of respect, this does not mean that the appellant was not using 

his credit card for personal expenditure prior to 2012. The evidence of the fact that there was 

some form of system in place, provided by the first appellant, demonstrates that he was using 

his credit card for personal expenses prior to 2012. 

65. That there was this use prior to 2012 is bolstered by the submissions that the 2011/2012 

employer compliance review had considered the system adopted by the company towards 

personal expenditure on company credit cards not just for the first appellant but for others in 

the company and given it a “clean bill of health”. And indeed, this was relied upon by the first 

appellant to counter allegations of dishonesty. But it clearly reflects an acceptance that the first 

appellant was using his credit card for personal expenditure prior to 2012. 

66. We accept Mr Marks’ submission that it is inherently unlikely that having incurred 

personal expenditure of £25,000 or so in 2013/2014 on his company credit card, the first 

appellant had not used it for personal expenditure at all prior to that tax year. We think it is 

much more likely, and we find as a fact, that the first appellant did use his company credit card 

for business expenditure prior to that tax year and indeed going back to 2001. 

67. Mr Smith submits that the main issue which led to the inaccuracies after 2012 was a 

change in personnel within the company’s finance team which took place in 2012. And that in 

some way this meant that the presumption of continuity could not be used to go back before 

2012 as a method of calculating personal expenditure for years in which no figures have been 

provided. But for similar reasons to those enunciated above, we do not see why this breaks the 

continuity between 2013/2014 and 2001. There is nothing in this submission which suggests 

that the company credit card was not being used for business expenditure, indeed the contrary; 

it supports HMRC’s assertion that it was being so used, but there was simply a change of 

internal systems for reporting that personal use. 

68. But the better point which we think Mr Smith makes is that the level of expenditure in 

2013/2014 and the following years was considerably greater than that in earlier years, and this 

greater expenditure in some way arises from the change of personnel in 2012, and RPI therefore 

is an inappropriate measure with which to extrapolating backwards. 

69. We do not accept this submission. We cannot see why the change of personnel has any 

bearing on the level of personal expenditure. It simply deals with the reporting of that 

expenditure. Once an agreed figure for 2013/2014 was established at £25,904, by Offcer 

Heatley, the fact that this might have resulted from a change in reporting requirements after 

2012 due to the change in personnel does not, in any way, affect the application of the 
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presumption of continuity. It does not provide a break. The change in personnel does not affect 

the figure. 

70. Mr Smith also submitted that by 2012, the credit limit on the company credit card used 

by the first appellant had increased, and thus could absorb greater personal expenditure 

thereafter than was the case before. But no corroborating evidence was provided to support this 

assertion.  

71. We do not consider whether the fact of an admission or otherwise regarding the use of 

the card for private expenditure at one of the meetings between the first appellant and HMRC, 

as being of any probative value. 

72. The first appellant has led no evidence of what, in his view, is the more likely level of 

private expenditure which he incurred on his card between 2001 and 2013. 

73. As we have said already, it is for the first appellant to provide evidence that the figures 

in the October 2019 discovery assessments overcharge him and evidence of what the more 

likely figures are. He has not done this.  

SP 8/91 

74. The first appellant invites us to conclude that because HMRC decided not to make any 

adjustments in respect of the company credit card following the 2011/2012 employer 

compliance check (which was based on full facts in relation to the use of the company’s credit 

cards) HMRC are precluded from issuing the October 2019 discovery assessments in relation 

to periods prior to 2011/2012 on the basis of the provisions of SP 8/91. 

75. SP 8/91, in the first appellant’s view, applies as HMRC have stated therein that they 

would not issue discovery assessments in cases where the particular issue has already been the 

subject of an enquiry like the 2011/2012 employer compliance enquiry. 

76. In this regard paragraph 14 of SP 8/91 is relevant. 

“There will also be circumstances in which the Cenlon and Olin principles are not 

applicable. Thus, the particular point on which the inspector subsequently takes a revised 

view and considers making a discovery assessment may not have been the subject of a 

specific agreement or, because the point was not fundamental, cannot be said to have 

been the subject of a specific agreement (see para 8 above). In these circumstances, a 

discovery assessment will not be made, provided that the inspector’s original decision, 

whether on a claim or on the proper amount of an assessment, was based on a full and 

accurate disclosure of all the relevant facts and was a tenable view, so that the taxpayer 

could reasonably have believed that the inspector’s decision was correct. And it follows 

that if the inspector’s original decision was consistent with a view of the law and practice 

generally received or adopted at the time, a discovery assessment would not be made 

where, for example, there is a subsequent change in that practice - eg, following a court 

decision”. 

77. It is the first appellant’s submission that the use of company credit cards was a central 

tenet of the 2011/2012 employer compliance enquiry. Full information regarding that use was 

disclosed by the company and thus all available information was made available to HMRC at 

that time. This is reflected in the 2012 meeting notes as well as the information request. 
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78. And so HMRC are effectively estopped from issuing the October 2019 discovery 

assessments since the first and second appellants were both given a clean bill of health in 

relation to private expenditure on the company credit card in 2011/2012. And this applied to 

all years prior to and including 2011/2012. 

79. HMRC’s view is that to the extent that SP 8/91 is relevant, it does not apply since the 

personal use of the appellant’s company credit card was not a central tenet of the employer 

compliance enquiry; and indeed, that investigation was into the company’s position and not 

into that of the first appellant. 

80. Whilst, as we have mentioned, the 2011/2012 compliance check is relevant in respect of 

the first appellant’s subjective mental state as regards deliberate behaviour, we do not think 

that it operates as suggested by Mr Smith, to prevent HMRC issuing the October 2019 

discovery assessments. 

81. Firstly, we do not think we have jurisdiction to consider this point in the first place. Our 

view is that if the first appellant is going to allege non-compliance with a statement of practice, 

that should be based on a legitimate expectation that HMRC would conform to the provisions 

of that statement of practice and their failure to do so can only be impugned by way of judicial 

review. We have no such jurisdiction. 

82. Secondly, SP 8/91 does not apply cases where there may have been fraud or negligence 

by or on behalf of the taxpayer. Mr Smith submits that that must be for negligence in respect 

of the 2011/2012 compliance enquiry. We disagree. Our view is that if a taxpayer wishes to 

rely on a statement of practice, they must have clean hands which they do not have if they have 

been guilty of fraud or negligence. That is the case whether it relates to the original enquiry or 

the subsequent discovery assessments. 

83. Thirdly, paragraph 4 of SP 8/91 makes it clear that for individuals, it only applies to 

returns for years up to and including 1995/96. The October 2019 discovery assessments clearly 

relate to returns for periods which post date this. 

84. Finally, we are not sufficiently certain that a review of the appellant’s personal use of his 

company credit card was the subject of a decision following the 2011/2012 compliance review, 

so as to fall within the ambit of SP 8/91. There is simply insufficient evidence to satisfy us that 

that was the case. 

85. So, our conclusion on this issue is that HMRC are not prevented, by dint of the 

application SP 8/91, from issuing the October 2019 discovery assessments. 

Conclusion on the October 2019 discovery assessments 

86. For the foregoing reasons, we have concluded that the inaccuracies in the first appellant’s 

tax returns which underreported his personal expenditure have arisen from his deliberate 

behaviour. We have also concluded that the presumption of continuity is an appropriate method 

for calculating the level of personal expenditure prior to the tax year 2013/2014, and the first 

appellant has not persuaded us that there was a break in continuity, nor of what that level of 

personal expenditure is more likely to have been. We have also found that the application of 

SP 8/91 did not prevent HMRC from issuing the October 2019 discovery assessments. 
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Penalties 

87. In light of the foregoing, we also uphold the November 2019 penalty assessments visited 

on the first appellant. 

NICs 

88. Similarly, we also uphold HMRC's section 8 decision dated 6 November 2019 for 

additional NICs of £63,919. However, as regards the NIC penalties set out in the decision of 

25 November 2019 we take a different view. 

89. Mr Marks accepts, in his skeleton argument, that it is possible for us to find that the first 

appellant acted deliberately but that the company acted carelessly. And that is our finding. This 

does not affect any limitation regarding the collection of the NICs, but does have an effect on 

the relevant penalty level. 

90. He urges us to find that the deliberate behaviour of the first appellant "transfers to the 

company". But we do not find this. This is not a one man company where the guiding mind of 

the company can, effectively, be directly attributable to the owner manager. It is a substantial 

organisation with many employees and a number of systems, one of which involves the analysis 

and categorisaton of private and business expenditure. It is clear to us that those systems fell 

into slight disarray in 2012. And that the failure, by the company, to correctly categorise the 

credit card expenditure and thus to correctly record the private element as additional 

remuneration (and thus pay NICs on it) was careless. 

91. But to establish deliberate behaviour it is for HMRC to show an intention to mislead 

HMRC. Or to show that the company deliberately shut its eyes to the fact that the personal 

expenditure might have been additional remuneration. 

92. And whilst, as we have said above, it is our view that this was the case for the first 

appellant, HMRC have not shown to our satisfaction that it was the case for the company. It is 

not sufficient to simply say that the sins of the first appellant must be visited on the company. 

93. The NIC penalties, therefore, should be recalculated on the basis of careless behaviour. 

If there is any dispute about the figure which is then assessed, then either party shall have the 

right to bring the matter before the tribunal who will determine the issue. 

THE LOAN RELATIONSHIP ISSUE 

94. There are a number of issues which need to be considered under this broad heading. 

(1) Firstly, in respect of both accounting periods ending 2014 and 2015, whether the loan 

relationship debits arising from the write-off of part of the debt owed to the company by VDP 

were allowable deductions for corporation tax purposes for the company. 

(2) HMRC say they are not on the alternative bases that; the company and VDP were 

connected companies in those accounting periods (or some part thereof) and/or the debits had 

an unallowable purpose (together the “technical issues”). 

(3) Secondly, in respect of the accounting period ending 2014 which reflects HMRC’s 

foregoing position, whether the October 2020 discovery assessment is valid.  
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(4) The appellant says not as there was no careless behaviour by the company or by 

somebody acting on its behalf. So, it was invalid and out of time. 

(5) Furthermore, the revenue amendment was, in essence, a discovery assessment which was 

settled by a section 54 agreement. By issuing the October 2020 discovery assessment, HMRC 

are seeking to relitigate a point which has already been settled (the “discovery assessment 

issues”). 

(6) Thirdly, penalties. 

95. The parties agree that provided HMRC can establish that the October 2020 discovery 

assessment is valid, then it is for the company to establish that it was not connected to VDP, 

and/or the loan write-off had no unallowable purpose. 

The technical issues 

The law  

96. We have set out the relevant law in the appendix to this decision. 

97. There are two technical issues. Firstly, whether the company and VDP were connected 

at any time during the accounting period in which the loan from the company to VDP was 

partially written off by the company (the “connected company issue”). Secondly whether the 

loan write-off had an unallowable purpose (the “unallowable purpose issue”). 

98. Although we have set out the law in the appendix, it is worth providing a brief synopsis 

of how the parties agree that it operates in relation to the technical issues. 

The connected company issue 

99. The loan relationship provisions in the CTA 2009 aligns the tax treatment of debt write-

offs or impairments with their accounting treatment (on the basis that the proper accounting 

treatment has been adopted). Where the lender releases an unconnected borrower from all or 

part of a debt, the lender is able to take a tax-deductible debit against its corporation tax 

liability, but the borrower must account for a taxable credit.  

100. However, where the lender and borrower are connected at some time during the 

accounting period in which loan is impaired or written off, the foregoing symmetry is 

disregarded, and whilst the borrower has no need to bring into account a taxable credit, the 

lender benefits from no tax-deductible debit. 

101. In this case, it is HMRC’s assertion that the company and VDP were connected at the 

relevant time, and so the tax-deductible debit which the company has claimed should be written 

back. The company says that it was not connected with VDP and that the tax deduction was 

properly claimed. 

Unallowable purpose 

102. If a loan relationship has an unallowable purpose, then, to all intents and purposes, the 

same situation arises as in a connected company loan relationship. The release of a debt is tax 

neutral. The borrower takes no debit, the lender accounts for no credit. In this appeal HMRC 

assert that the release of the loan was a related transaction and thus the foregoing treatment 
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applies. The company denies that it was a related transaction and asserts that the company was 

entitled to the tax-deductible debit. 

Connected company issue 

Submissions 

103. On this issue, Mr Marks submitted, in summary, as follows: 

(1) The loan was secured against the property owned by VDP. The loan agreement provided 

that the loan must be repaid in full on the sale of the property. 

(2) If the terms of this agreement had been adhered to, the company would have been repaid 

the loan in full and the amount available for distribution amongst the other lenders would have 

only been £236,000. 

(3) The company also lent a further £133,967 to VDP as a “trading balance”. 

(4) Once VDP sold its property, the first appellant and BM were repaid in full, Mr Clayton 

was paid £121,479 (leaving a balance of £37,213). Mr Murphy was paid £43,245 (leaving a 

balance of £14,884); £365,790 was repaid to the company, leaving a balance of £244,626, 

(£110,659 of which related to the loan, and the rest being the trading balance). 

(5) There was a clear decision made by VDP to only repay the company part of its loan, 

whilst at the same time repaying BM and the first appellant in full. 

(6) The company and VDP were connected since BM and the first appellant controlled both 

of them. They were controlled by the same persons. 

(7) Control here means the power of a person to secure that the affairs of a company are 

conducted in accordance with the person’s wishes. Here, BM and the first appellant could 

secure that the affairs of both companies were conducted in accordance with their wishes since 

they held the majority of the shares in both companies. 

(8) Affairs here does not mean all of the affairs of the company. It can apply to specific 

affairs, and the release of the balance of the loan falls within the ambit of this provision. 

(9) In actual fact, notwithstanding that BM and the first appellant had control by dint of their 

majority shareholdings, they acted together to ensure that,  in regard to the loan repayments, 

the company and VDP agreed to the repayment schedule. This could not have happened if they 

did not exercise de facto control over both entities. 

(10) The company gave up its valuable rights to repayment of the balance of the loan and to 

repayment of the trading balance. This was to its detriment. The repayment schedule benefited 

BM and the first appellant. The decisions, therefore, made by BM and the first appellant had a 

considerable personal benefit and cannot be said to be independent decisions. Their wishes 

were to be repaid in full at the expense of other creditors including the company. 

104. On this issue Mr Smith submitted in summary as follows: 

(1) Neither theoretically nor actually could BM and the first appellant secure that the affairs 

of both companies were conducted in accordance with their wishes. 
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(2) Affairs here means every single one of the affairs of the company not just some or most 

of them. 

(3) For two people to control the company, they have to be shown as acting as “one” in 

concert or acting with one mind. The question therefore is whether the first appellant and BM 

acted as one unit at all times in all respects to control the company and VDP. This interpretation 

has been endorsed by Counsel. 

(4) The evidence shows that they clearly did not. The shareholders agreement provides that 

Majority Consent (90%) was required for 19 different actions of the company. BM and the first 

appellant therefore could not undertake these actions without the consent of SF. This is 

sufficient to disconnect the company from VDP regardless of the control of VDP. 

(5) There are also specific restrictions in clause 11 of the shareholders agreement which 

explicitly prevent BM and the first appellant from undertaking certain actions, for example 

making loans, transacting with associated companies, and disposal of assets over a certain 

value. These provisions again militate against BM and the first appellant be able to secure that 

the affairs of the company were conducted in accordance with their wishes. 

(6) As far as VDP is concerned, the first appellant and BM needed to operate together in 

order to control VDP, and the evidence shows that they did not. Whilst they acted together to 

(operationally) sell the property, the decision to sell was taken by all shareholders. Similarly, 

the decision to distribute the proceeds of sale was a decision taken by all shareholders. 

(7) Neither the company nor VDP were controlled by BM or the first appellant acting as one 

as required by the legislation. The test is whether they acted at all times as one in accordance 

with HMRC guidance. 

(8) Even though the company had security over the property, when the property was sold the 

security provided went with it. So, the company did not choose to abandon its position as a 

secured creditor. As a matter of fact, when the property was sold, the security was released as 

well. 

(9) It was the first appellant’s unchallenged evidence that it was SF who agreed to give up 

the company’s right of full repayment of the loan and the trading balance. This was in any event 

required by virtue of it being a transaction with an associated company of a shareholder. 

Our view on the connected company issue 

105. There is no dispute about the tax consequences of the company and VDP being 

connected. Nor is there any difference between the parties as to the legislation which we should 

apply in determining whether they are so connected. If BM and the first appellant controlled 

both companies at any time in the accounting period in which the loan was partially released, 

then the company is not entitled to the tax-deductible debit for that partial release. 

106. Under section 472 CTA 2009, control means the power of a person to secure that the 

affairs of the company are conducted in accordance with the person’s wishes by means of the 

holding of shares (or the possession of voting power) or as a result of any other powers 

conferred by the articles or other document regulating the company. 
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107. Interestingly, there is no scope within this provision to consider de facto control. The 

power to secure the affairs of the company must be by means of shareholdings or other 

documentary provision. 

108. It is our view that whilst BM and the first appellant had control of VDP, it did not control 

the company, and thus the company and VDP were not connected at the relevant time. 

109. Mr Smith makes two submissions. Firstly, that in order to control the company, a person 

must be able to secure that every single one of the affairs of the company are conducted in 

accordance with that person’s wishes.  

110. Secondly, where two people are alleged to control the company, they must act “as one”. 

111. On the first point, we do not agree with him that, as a general principle, if a single affair 

of the company is not conducted in accordance with the person’s wishes, that person has no 

control. It would seem odd to us that if there was a provision in a shareholders agreement which 

obliged the majority shareholders to take into account the wishes of a minority shareholder if 

the company wants to buy more than 50 paperclips in one batch, then that would prevent those 

majority shareholders from controlling the company. To our mind when considering the affairs 

of the company, one needs to look more deeply into the affairs of the company.  

112. There must be a consideration in each particular case, which is bound to be fact 

dependent, as to whether the specific activities of the company in question are conducted in 

accordance with a person’s wishes. And, without making any hard and fast rule (which we do 

not need to do in this case) the relevant affairs and  activities of the company which need to be 

considered will vary on a case-by-case basis. 

113. Nor do we agree with him that the statutory test can be supplemented by a rule of thumb 

that the persons need to act “as one”. We need to consider the statutory test. We ask ourselves 

whether the rights attaching to the shares, the articles, or the shareholders agreement (which in 

our view falls within the ambit of another document regulating the company) give BM and the 

first appellant the power to secure that the affairs of the company are conducted in accordance 

with their wishes. 

114. We also accept the argument that person for these purposes can be persons by dint of the 

Interpretation Act. 

115. It is our view that the provisions of clause 11 of the shareholders agreement, which 

contains a raft of restrictions on the otherwise unfettered right of the majority shareholders to 

control the company, mean that they do not control the company. The clause 11 actions require 

the consent of SF. These include changing the constitution the company or its name, issuing 

debt instruments, forming subsidiaries, merging or winding up the business, changing the 

nature of the business carried on by the company, making loans, permitting transactions with 

associated companies or shareholders, and other similar provisions. 

116. These matters are fundamental to the running of the company at both an operational and 

strategic level. They are clearly within the ambit of the affairs of the company. Since the 

majority shareholders do not have the power to secure that these are conducted in accordance 

with their wishes, it is our view that they do not have control of the company. 

117. Irrespective, therefore, of control of VDP, the company and VDP were not connected at 

the relevant time. 
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The unallowable purpose issue 

Submissions 

118. On this issue Mr Marks submitted, in summary, as follows: 

(1) The unallowable purpose legislation applies not just to the making of the loan but also to 

any related transactions which means any disposal or acquisition (in whole or in part) of rights 

or liabilities under the loan relationship. Disposal and acquisition include circumstances where 

rights or liabilities under a loan relationship are extinguished by any redemption surrender or 

release. 

(2) The loan was such a loan relationship and therefore the write-off of part of the loan by 

the company was a related transaction. 

(3) The decision by the company not to enforce its security, and its rights to be repaid the 

loan in full, but instead allowing VDP to repay BM and the first appellant in full were not in 

the commercial or business interests of the company. The company could have insisted on 

having its secured loan repaid in full, and VDP would then have had to decide who amongst 

the unsecured creditors would be repaid. 

(4) It also gave up rights to its unsecured trading balance, in respect of which it received no 

repayment. Had the loan been repaid in full as it should have been, there would have been 

approximately £236,000 left over in VDP to repay unsecured creditors which would have 

entitled the company to be repaid 38% of its trade balance (£51,057). The company therefore 

should have been repaid a total of £527,057. However, it was repaid only £366,000, which is 

approximately £161,000 less than it was entitled to. This nearly matches the amount paid to 

BM and the first appellant. 

(5) The decision of the company not to enforce what was legally due from VDP following 

the sale of the property by VDP was not in the business or commercial interests of the company. 

The company therefore cannot bring into account the debit on the impairment loss as the 

unallowable purpose legislation prohibits it from doing so. 

119. On this issue Mr Smith submitted, in summary, as follows: 

(1) The unallowable purposes legislation is an anti-avoidance provision designed to stop 

companies artificially structuring their financial arrangements. In the case of the company and 

VDP, the company was a reluctant financier but had no choice other than to lend the money to 

VDP if it wanted VDP to survive. This is not contrived intragroup financing. The arrangements 

between the company and VDP bear no hallmarks of avoidance. 

(2) It was Mr Sengupta’s evidence that the unallowable purpose legislation was squarely 

aimed at convoluted structures put in place in an attempt to circumvent the normal scheme of 

things when interest is paid by one company which receives a tax deduction, but the recipient 

is not taxed on receipt of the interest. 

(3) The question in this case is whether the loan made by the company to VDP was made for 

the commercial and business purposes of the company. The answer is clearly yes on the 

evidence of the first appellant. Furthermore, the loan enabled VDP to survive and prevented 

the bank taking enforcement action, and the company’s guarantee being called on. 
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(4) HMRC’s interpretation of the consequences of being a secured creditor are 

misconceived. Once the secured assets were sold, the lender then ceased to be a secured creditor 

and became an unsecured creditor, something which has been confirmed by the liquidator’s 

report of VDP. Once the property was sold, there was no security, so the company was not 

entitled to full repayment of the loan as HMRC assert. 

(5) The company’s decision to write-off part of the loan was taken by all three shareholders. 

Our view on the unallowable purpose issue 

120. Our view is that the write-off of part of the loan by the company had an unallowable 

purpose. It falls within the relevant statutory provisions. 

121. Firstly, the loan from the company to VDP was a loan relationship. 

122. Secondly, the partial write-off of the loan was a related transaction within the definition 

of section 304(1) CTA 2009. It was a disposal by the company of rights under the loan 

agreement (the right to be repaid) and falls within the ambit of section 304(2) since the 

company’s rights under that loan relationship were extinguished, in part, by the release of 

VDP’s obligation to discharge the loan in full. 

123. Finally, the purpose of the partial write-off was not amongst the business or other 

commercial purposes of the company. 

124. Mr Smith’s submissions were focused, mainly, on the justification for the making of the 

loan in the first place. We have not permitted HMRC to make any submissions on the issue of 

whether the making of the loan had an unallowable purpose. And so, these submissions are not, 

strictly speaking, relevant to the write-off. 

125. The evidence is clear that the loan was secured on the property. It is equally clear that 

VDP had an obligation under the loan agreement to discharge the loan in full on the sale of 

“substantially all of the assets” of VDP. The sale of the property falls within this provision. 

126. We do not accept the submission that at the point of sale of the property by VDP, the 

company had released that security, and was thus in the position of unsecured creditor. And so 

was no longer in a favourable position when it came to its rights to be repaid in full. This is 

simply not how security works in the circumstances. The purpose of the security was to ensure 

that the contractual promise to repay the loan in full on the sale of the property was met. 

127. And security in this case was a legal mortgage which would, in the absence of release, 

run with the property. In other words, a buyer would be bound by the obligations under that 

mortgage if it purchased the property. And of course, no properly advised buyer would do this. 

The buyer would require such security to be released immediately prior to sale. 

128. The way this works in practice (where the mortgage needs to be discharged out of the 

sale proceeds as was the case here, and as was the case with the bank’s security) is that a 

solicitor acting for the seller gives an undertaking to the buyer’s solicitor that on receipt of the 

purchase price, the buyer’s solicitor will use the money to discharge the debts owed to the 

secured creditors. Secured creditors in turn then release the charge so that the property can be 

conveyed, unencumbered, to the purchaser. And in these circumstances the secured creditors 

are paid what they are owed. 
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129. So, the company as a secured creditor was entitled to insist on repayment in full of the 

outstanding loan on the sale of the property. Without that, there was no obligation on the 

company to release its security.  

130. However, it agreed that it would not insist on receiving the full amount due to it, and this 

is a release, by the company, of its right to full repayment under the terms of the loan agreement. 

131. By doing this it clearly deprived itself of a considerable amount of money. Our 

understanding is that of the £476,000 secured on the property, only approximately £381,000 

was repaid, the balance being written off. 

132. In our view this was not amongst the business or other commercial purposes of the 

company. 

133. The evidence shows that the company suffered financially, whilst the majority 

shareholders benefited (as unsecured creditors they should not have been entitled to 100% of 

their unsecured loans given the shortfall following the sale of the property by VDP). The 

evidence also shows that the reason why the majority shareholders were repaid in full is 

because of the work that they had done to secure a good deal for the sale of the property which 

resulted in a knock-on benefit for everyone. 

134. We understand this, and this seems to us proper that the majority shareholders should 

receive some sort of reward for that result. But that reward has benefited those shareholders at 

the expense of the company. And when considering unallowable purpose, we must consider the 

purposes of the company and not the company’s shareholders or investors. 

135. We do not need the first appellant’s admission that by writing off the balance of the loan, 

the company suffered financially. That is clear as a matter of fact. The core business of the 

company is selling imported doormats. It took the view that it needed to fund VDP to enable 

VDP to purchase a property which in turn can be rented to the company. The loan necessary to 

achieve that acquisition (or more importantly to refinance) was then made on arm’s length 

terms. We cannot see that there is an  unallowable purpose here. 

136. But by depriving itself of capital by writing off a part of the secured loan to which it was 

entitled to repayment in full on the sale of the property by VDP, it did something which was 

not amongst the business or other commercial purposes of the company. It deliberately 

deprived itself of working capital whilst benefiting the unsecured creditors who were also 

shareholders in the company. 

137. Our conclusion, therefore, is that the partial write-off of the secured element of the loans 

owed by VDP to the company had an unallowable purpose and thus the tax-deductible debit 

which that partial write-off reflects, cannot be deducted for corporation tax purposes, by the 

company, for the tax years in question. 

Discovery assessment issues 

138. We now turn to consider the discovery assessment issues. 

139. The law is set out in the appendix. 

140. As for the technical issues, there are two sub issues which require resolution. Firstly, 

whether the company or someone acting on its behalf has acted carelessly in bringing about 
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the underassessment of tax (the “carelessness issue”). This is important for two reasons. 

Firstly, where a company has submitted a tax return, HMRC cannot issue a discovery 

assessment unless there has been carelessness. Secondly, the period within which HMRC can 

issue a valid discovery assessment is extended to 6 years in the case of carelessness, which is 

important here in relation to the October 2020 discovery assessment. 

141. The second strand of enquiry into the discovery assessment issues concerns whether the 

revenue amendment comprise a discovery assessment which was then settled by a section 54 

agreement (the “section 54 agreement issue”). 

The carelessness issue 

Submissions 

142. On this issue Mr Marks submits, in summary, as follows: 

(1) The 2014 accounts of the company which included the appellant’s debit (referred to as a 

bad debt provision) were submitted to Companies House on 26 June 2015. 

(2) The tax computations for 2014 confirmed that £72,520.90 and £94,579 were claimed as 

deductions for impairment losses (the first reflecting a write-off of the “trading balance”, the 

latter being an irrecoverable amount under the loan). 

(3) There is no documentary evidence to support the assertion that advice was taken before 

completing the accounts although the first appellant’s evidence was that he thought that it had 

been but could provide no such documentary evidence. 

(4) The only possible advice is the GT report. This is addressed to VDP and not the company. 

The company therefore cannot rely on this as being professional advice taken by the company. 

The final edition is dated 4 September 2015. 

(5) The GT report recommended two courses of action, one in which all debtors were paid 

off pro-rata and the second which paid out the first appellant and BM in full. In fact there was 

a third option which the report did not consider and which it should have done. GT clearly 

knew that there was a loan to VDP from the company. The £476,000 loan and the loan 

agreement are specifically referred to in the GT report. That loan agreement provides that the 

loan must be repaid in full upon the sale of the property. The GT report, therefore, should have 

considered the third option whereby the loan was paid off in full to the company as secured 

creditor, and the balance distributed to unsecured creditors pro-rata. 

(6) The GT report therefore has been carelessly drafted in that it does not consider the 

preferential rights of the company as secured creditor. 

(7) The GT report does not mention unallowable purpose either in respect of the loan or in 

respect of the way in which the balance of sale proceeds following the sale of the property and 

repayment to the bank, should be distributed. This is carelessness by GT. We should infer that 

they knew that the company’s loan was secured. If they did not, then this was carelessness on 

behalf of those instructing GT since it is clearly highly relevant to VDP’s creditors and the 

amounts to which they were entitled to be repaid. 

143. On this issue Mr Smith submitted, in summary, as follows: 
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(1) The company sought the advice of GT, a suitable reputable and knowledgeable adviser 

to whom they provided all of the relevant information. 

(2) Mr Sengupta had ultimate responsibility as partner, for the GT report. He was a long-

standing and trusted adviser to the company. The report was sent in draft to Ian Brazier, the 

company’s finance director. GT had originally been instructed in August 2015. The report was 

dated 4 September 2015 but clearly a great deal of work had gone into it before then. 

(3) Although primarily responsible, Mr Sengupta delegated responsibility for drafting the 

report to an assistant and a senior manager who then involved GT’s treasury and loan 

relationship specialist. 

(4) Mr Sengupta himself, however, had specialised in mergers and acquisitions and private 

equity bank deals and was familiar with the issue of unallowable purpose. 

(5) It was not considered relevant either by Mr Sengupta or by the GT specialist that 

unallowable purpose was relevant. This reason was not included in the report was that it would 

simply have lengthened the report by including a matter which was irrelevant. Counsel 

confirmed that he, too, thought that it was irrelevant. 

(6) Although the GT report was addressed to VDP, it was clearly provided on the instructions 

of Ian Brazier, the finance director of the company and was used and acted upon by the 

company. The company could therefore rely on it, which it did, in relation to the tax 

consequences of repayments of the loan and the trading balance. 

Our view on carelessness 

144. Carelessness, or failure to take reasonable care, is important for two reasons. Firstly, it is 

a gateway to HMRC raising a discovery assessment in circumstances where the company has 

submitted a corporation tax return for the relevant period. Secondly, it allows HMRC a 6 year 

limitation period to raise that discovery assessment. 

145. Failure to take reasonable care can, in the circumstances, either be by the company or a 

person acting on behalf of the company. 

146. For the purposes of this decision, we accept the submission by Mr Marks that the 

reasonable care which should be taken by a taxpayer is assessed by reference to a prudent and 

reasonable taxpayer in the position of the taxpayer in question. We extrapolate this as regards 

a person acting on behalf of the company by saying that the reasonable care which such an 

adviser should take is assessed by reference to a prudent and reasonable adviser in the position 

of the adviser in question. 

147. In both cases there is an objective and a subjective element. The objective element is the 

prudent and reasonable taxpayer or adviser. But reasonable care must be tested against the 

personal or professional qualities, expertise and experience, which either the taxpayer or the 

adviser actually has or holds out as having. So whilst there is one standard (reasonable care) 

what is reasonable in one case, may not be reasonable in another, depending on the personal 

and professional attributes of the taxpayer and adviser. 

148. In this case, HMRC assert that GT, acting on behalf of the company, have failed to 

exercise reasonable care when compiling the GT report. They also assert that the company may 
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have also failed to exercise reasonable care in failing to tell GT of the company’s security over 

the property owned by VDP. 

149. HMRC also assert that the GT report was written for the benefit of VDP and cannot be 

relied upon by the company. And so the company could not have acted carefully by acting 

upon the advice of GT. We reject this submission. As is common in the circumstances, where 

an adviser is instructed in relation to an intergroup transaction, and notwithstanding that there 

might be reliance restrictions in the document, it is commonplace for the parties to the 

intergroup transactions to rely on the advice provided. We find this to be the case in the 

circumstances of the GT report. Whilst it was addressed to VDP, it was clearly commissioned 

by the finance director of the company and affected both. It is wholly reasonable therefore for 

the company to rely on GT’s advice. By doing so we find the company exercised reasonable 

care. 

150. However, and we have not come to this conclusion lightly, it is our view that GT failed 

to take reasonable care when compiling the GT report. 

151. As far as the connected company position is concerned, the GT report considered this 

and concluded that it was “doubtful that [the company] and VDP are connected under the loan 

relationship rules”. It then went on to explain why (there was no individual who controlled the 

company and VDP through the holding of shares, powers or other documents). 

152. So, GT not only considered the connected company position but also gave reasons as to 

why in their view the companies were unconnected. It so happens that their view coincides 

with ours, but even if it had not done so, we would have respected the technical merits of their 

view and found that they had exercised reasonable care in coming to their conclusion. 

153. But we are afraid this cannot be said in respect of the unallowable purpose position. 

154. It is Mr Smith’s submission, and Mr Sengupta’s evidence, that the reason that there is no 

reference to unallowable purpose in the report is that it was considered to be irrelevant to the 

circumstances for which the report was commissioned. 

155. We find this surprising, to put it mildly. 

156. The GT report is clearly based on evidence that the loan was formalised by a loan 

instrument in September 2010. On page 9 of the report it states “The £476K was formalized by 

a loan instrument in September 2010”. We suspect this is a mistake and it is intended to refer 

to the loan agreement of 26 November 2010. We do not know of the basis of this statement, 

but we take the view that a properly instructed adviser would have been provided with a copy 

of the loan agreement from which it is abundantly clear not only that the loan was secured, but 

also that it was repayable in full on the sale of the property. 

157. Yet no reference is made to either of these provisions in the GT report. So, someone here 

has acted without reasonable care. It may have been the company in not providing full 

instructions to GT. It may be GT in failing to properly read the information that was provided 

to it, or, having been told something by the company, failing to verify that. But in either case, 

the question of whether the loan from the company to VDP was secured or unsecured, was a 

matter of considerable importance, as too was the obligation on VDP to discharge the loan on 

full on the sale of the property. 
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158. We were told that Mr Sengupta, acting as client partner has acted for the company for a 

number of years. And so, with the greatest respect to him, in his capacity as a partner in GT, 

we would have expected him to have known about, and ensured that full information was 

provided to his colleagues in respect of, the loan of 26 November 2010. 

159. But even without this information, it is our view that when loans are being written off the 

unallowable purpose provisions are a matter of fundamental importance to any advice 

regarding the propriety and technical basis for asserting that a partial write-off of a loan could 

be taken as a tax-deductible debit in the accounts and tax return of the lender. The unallowable 

purpose provisions are renowned for having an extensive but somewhat undefined scope and 

thus impact on both the creation of a loan relationship and matters affecting it. 

160. So, we do not think that the submission that the justification for failing to address 

unallowable purpose in the GT report as its being irrelevant, has merit. 

161. We would have expected that unallowable purpose would have been addressed in the 

report if only to reject its application to the circumstances. If this had been the case, and 

depending on the rationale given for that dismissal, it is much more likely that we would have 

found that GT had taken reasonable care in compiling the report. 

162. However, no mention whatsoever is made in the GT report about unallowable purpose. 

163. And this is notwithstanding that GT is a highly reputable and experienced provider of 

professional services and holds itself out as having a high level of expertise. And this is 

endorsed by Mr Sengupta who, understandably, indicated that the technical issues associated 

with the proposed repayments were dealt with by specialists who reported to him, and who in 

turn took specialist advice from the national loan relationship specialist within GT. 

164. If this was the case, then something seems to have slipped down a crack. We do not 

believe that the national loan relationship specialist within GT, properly instructed, would not 

have considered, let alone come to a conclusion on, the application of unallowable purpose to 

these loan repayments. 

165. The failure to instruct improperly, or his or her failure to address them, leads us to the 

conclusion that GT failed to exercise reasonable care in the GT report on the unallowable 

purpose issue.  

166. The objectively prudent and reasonable adviser which found itself in the position of GT, 

with GT’s expertise and experience, would have considered unallowable purpose in the context 

of the proposed loan repayments, and would have reflected that consideration in its report. 

167.  This should have been the case anyway, but is exacerbated by the fact that they knew, 

or should reasonably have known, that the loan was secured and that the company had the right 

to insist on full repayment of its loan as a condition for release of that security. 

168. Our conclusion on this carelessness issue, therefore, is that HMRC have passed through 

the carelessness gateway which is required in order to make a discovery assessment, and the 

extended 6 year limitation period is engaged rather than the basic 4 year limitation period. 

The section 54 agreement issue 

Submissions 
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169. On this issue Mr Smith submitted in summary as follows: 

(1) The revenue amendment was held out and accepted by all parties to be an assessment in 

relation to the 2014 company tax return and its withdrawal by HMRC constitutes an agreement 

under section 54 TMA. The matter therefore is settled and the October 2020 discovery 

assessment is invalid. HMRC could not have made a second discovery. They cannot discover 

the same thing more than once. 

(2) The parties were under no misapprehension of what the revenue amendment represented. 

It might be a “misdescription”, but that does not mean that it was not an assessment. 

(3) Section 114 TMA, entitled “Want of form or errors not to invalidate the assessments, etc” 

gives both HMRC and a taxpayer a statutory right to claim that the assessment, warrant or other 

proceeding in question shall not be affected by reason of mistake etc. 

(4) The revenue amendment is simply a mistake of form. It is in substance an assessment 

dressed up as a revenue amendment. The company knew full well what the revenue amendment 

was supposed to be for and there was no ambiguity over what had been assessed and for what 

period. There was no gross error. There was simply an incorrect statutory reference which falls 

within the safety net of section 114 TMA. 

(5) If this is right, then HMRC’s withdrawal of the revenue amendment on 18 August 2020 

created a settlement of the issue by virtue of section 54 TMA. The withdrawal of the revenue 

amendment cancels the assessment which in fact it was, and the matter is therefore settled as if 

the tribunal had cancelled the assessment. The fact that there was reference to the matter being 

settled by a section 54 agreement in the notice sent to the company and the agent on 27 October 

2020 reflects HMRC’s acceptance that the matter had been settled in that way. 

170. On this issue Mr Marks submitted, in summary, as follows: 

(1) The revenue amendment was of no effect as it was raised pursuant to the consequential 

amendment provisions in paragraph 34 of schedule 18 to the Finance Act 1998. This paragraph 

deals with consequential amendments following the issue of a closure notice or partial closure 

notice which in turn arises when an enquiry has been instigated. In this case no such enquiry 

had been raised into the affairs of the company for the 2014 accounting period and thus the 

revenue amendment was without any statutory basis. 

(2) Section 114 TMA cannot be used to correct the position. It cannot deem a revenue 

amendment which had no statutory basis for issue, to be a discovery assessment. 

(3) Instead, the only discovery assessment which was issued was the October 2020 discovery 

assessment. That is clearly described as a discovery assessment (“assessment to make good to 

the Crown the loss of tax”) whereas the revenue amendment is described as a “notice of 

amendment to a company return”. 

(4) Officer Heatley simply made a mistake, in failing to check the correct provision under 

which the assessment should have been made. She didn’t realise there was an error until the 

litigation team at HMRC pointed this out to her. She corrected the error a day later, having 

emailed Mr Sengupta on 18 August 2020 about the administrative mistake. In that email she 

said that the revenue amendment “will be withdrawn”. The October 2020 discovery assessment 

was the correct assessment. 
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(5) There was no agreement under section 54 TMA that the subject matter of the revenue 

amendment or the October 2020 discovery assessment was agreed. Any section 54 agreement 

proposed by Officer Heatley on 27 October 2020 was rejected by the first appellant on 26 

November 2020. 

Our view 

171. We need to consider two issues. Firstly, whether the revenue amendment should be 

construed as a discovery assessment. The company asked us to do so. Secondly it has also 

asked us to find, if we do find it was a discovery assessment, to go on to say that the issue with 

which it dealt has been settled by HMRC withdrawing from the appeal against the revenue 

amendment. And so, because HMRC could not make a second discovery, the October 2020 

discovery assessments are not valid. 

172. We have considered both of these, but also a third position, which has effectively been 

pre-empted by HMRC in their skeleton argument, and which is whether issue estoppel might 

apply, irrespective of whether we find that the revenue amendment was an assessment, since a 

section 54 agreement would conclude the issue raised in that revenue amendment irrespective 

of whether it should be treated as a discovery assessment. 

173. Our view is that the revenue amendment was not a discovery assessment. What seems to 

have happened is that Officer Heatley has made a single discovery. This was, according to her 

evidence, in or around the beginning of August 2019 and that discovery was promulgated to 

the company by way of a notice entitled “notice of amendment to a company tax return”, issued 

on 15 October 2019. 

174. Under the discovery assessment provisions in schedule 18 FA 1998, it is clear that the 

making and issuance of a discovery assessment is a two-stage process. Firstly, the officer makes 

a discovery and secondly, that discovery must be notified to the taxpayer by way of an 

assessment. It is this latter document which is described as a discovery assessment. 

175. So, there is a formal process which must be undertaken in order for HMRC to issue a 

valid discovery assessment. It is clear from the evidence that Officer Heatley had fulfilled the 

first element of this process. She made a discovery.  

176. The way in which this discovery was notified to the company was then incorrect. 

177. In order to raise a revenue amendment, under paragraph 34 schedule 18 Finance Act 

1998, a partial or final closure notice must have been given to the company. And such a notice 

could only be given if HMRC had opened an enquiry into the 2014 corporation tax return. No 

such enquiry was opened. So, there was no lawful basis on which HMRC could give the 

revenue amendment. It was an unlawful document. 

178. Mr Smith submits, however, that it takes effect as a notification of the discovery, and thus 

is a discovery assessment. And notwithstanding the described as a revenue amendment, section 

114 TMA allows the company (and indeed the tribunal) to so treat it as it is in substance an 

assessment and so should not be treated as void or voidable, or affected by, a mistake, defect 

or omission. His argument, as we understand it, is that HMRC have mistakenly promulgated 

the notice of assessment under the description of a revenue amendment, and that misdescription 

should be disregarded and the notification treated as a discovery assessment. 
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179. In his view this does not reflect a gross error. It does not fall into the category where 

HMRC have issued, for example, an assessment for the wrong fiscal year. It is simply a mistake 

in the form of notification. It is not a mistake in the substance of the discovery and notification. 

180. Although not cited to us, we have considered the judgment of Henderson J (as he was 

then) in the case of Pipe v HMRC [2008] EWHC 646 (CH) (“Pipe”). 

181. In Pipe the court had to consider whether mistakes in penalty notices could be saved by 

section 114 TMA. In that decision, the judge said: 

“….I would emphasise that Slade LJ said in terms… That section 114(2) had no 

application to the facts of that case. I infer from this that the mistakes made by the 

Revenue must have been not only a mistake in the form of the notice of assessment sent 

to the taxpayer’s agent, but also a mistake in the assessment itself which was written in 

the assessment book. If the entry in the assessment book had been correct, and the only 

error was in the notice, the Revenue would presumably have been able to rely on section 

114(2)(b)…”. 

182. At face value, this would appear to support Mr Smith’s submission. There was no mistake 

in the discovery itself. The mistake was in the notice notifying the company of that discovery. 

183. But the difference between Pipe and the revenue amendment in this appeal is that the 

form of notification in Pipe was one which was permitted by statute. All that was wrong was 

that it did not contain adequate information. 

184. In the case of the revenue amendment however, it is an illegal document. It could not be 

what it purports to be i.e. a consequential amendment, since the statutory prerequisites for the 

issue of such an amendment did not exist. It could not, therefore, be legal notification of the 

discovery made by Officer Heatley. And this distinguishes the situation from Pipe where there 

was no illegality in the notification, merely a mistake of form. 

185. In our view section 114 TMA does not extend to correct the mistake made by HMRC of 

notifying the discovery by way of a consequential amendment. The revenue amendment is not 

notification of Officer Heatley’s discovery such to bring it within the ambit of paragraph 41 of 

Schedule 18 Finance Act 1998. 

186. The second issue is whether or not it took effect as a discovery assessment, the issue with 

which the revenue amendment dealt has been settled by dint of a section 54 agreement so that 

the issue cannot be re-litigated (the effect of which is that HMRC cannot rely on the October 

2020 assessment as being valid, and the appellant’s appeal against it must succeed). 

187. Sections 54(1) and 54(4) TMA both include deeming provisions. When an appeal is 

withdrawn by the person who has given notice of appeal (in this case the company) the parties 

are deemed to have “come to an agreement…that the assessment or decision under appeal 

should be upheld without variation”. In these circumstances, a tribunal is then deemed to have 

“determined the appeal and… upheld the assessment or decision without variation….”. 

188. In this case, the section 54(4) TMA deeming provision cannot apply since it was HMRC 

who withdrew from the appeal, by effectively withdrawing the revenue amendment. It was not 

the taxpayer who withdrew from its appeal. 
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189. In these circumstances there must be an actual agreement between the parties that the 

assessment or decision under appeal should be treated as upheld without variation, or as varied, 

as discharged or cancelled. 

190. The only documentary evidence that such an agreement was entered into is the somewhat 

delphic comment on the document dated 27 October 2020 entitled “Agent copy of notice of 

amendment to a company tax return”, that “Please see email correspondence confirming this 

represents cancellation of previous amendment dated 15/10/19. The appeal is determined under 

Section 54 Taxes Management Act 1970”. 

191. A simple statement to this effect in this document does not, of itself, either reflect the 

fact that there was such an agreement or comprise a section 54 agreement of itself. One needs 

to consider whether there was, in fact, an agreement reached regarding the revenue amendment. 

The facts show that there was no such agreement reached. All that happened was, as reflected 

in Officer Heatley’s email to Mr Sengupta of 18 August 2020, that HMRC in preparing for the 

hearing, spotted an administrative mistake (the assessment was raised as a revenue amendment) 

and would be withdrawn. That was then unilaterally withdrawn by HMRC on 27 October 2020. 

There were no negotiations regarding settling the corporation tax deduction claimed by the 

company in its 2014 tax return which were then formalised in a bilateral agreement between 

HMRC and the company. There was simply the unilateral act of withdrawal by HMRC and the 

subsequent collapse of the appeal against the revenue amendment since it no longer had any 

effect. 

192. Mr Smith submits that the appeal which was made against the revenue amendment by 

dint of Mr Sengupta's email of 29 October 2019 comprises an offer, which was then accepted 

by HMRC when it withdrew the revenue amendment. We cannot accept this. Mr Sengupta's 

email was simply an appeal against the additional tax of £167,767 set out in Officer Heatley's 

letter of 21 October 2019. Of this £167,099 related to the loan relationship issue and Mr 

Sengupta states "we therefore appeal against this aspect and we look forward to resolving this 

matter at independent Tribunal". 

193. This is not an invitation to treat let alone an offer to settle. This is Mr Sengupta telling 

HMRC that he thinks they are mistaken and that the matter should be settled by an independent 

tribunal. It is a conventional notice of appeal. It tells HMRC that they are wrong. It is not an 

overture to reach a compromise. 

194. Furthermore, HMRC withdrawing that revenue amendment cannot be seen as accepting 

the company's position in relation to anything. It was issued in the absence of any input from 

the company, and arises from HMRC's prehearing review, when it was realised that the revenue 

amendment had no statutory basis and could not therefore be the notification of a discovery 

assessment. 

195. So, we do not think that there was any offer and acceptance, in the conventional sense of 

those terms, which is a prerequisite to a valid section 54 agreement. 

196. It is our view that the circumstances fall outside the provisions of section 54 TMA. And 

so, the issue which was the subject matter of the discovery and subsequent revenue 

amendment/assessment (namely whether the company was entitled to its loan relationship debit 

as a deduction against its corporation tax liability for 2014) was not the subject of an agreement 

between the parties. As such, by issuing the October 2020 assessment, HMRC are not seeking 

to relitigate a matter which has already been determined either by the tribunal or by agreement. 
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197. Drawing these strands together. Officer Heatley made a discovery which she then 

notified to the company by way of a notice of consequential amendment. There was no statutory 

basis on which this notification could be given. It did not take effect as a valid notification of 

a discovery assessment under paragraph 41 of schedule 18 Finance Act 1998. The valid 

notification of that discovery was the October 2020 discovery assessment. Even if it did, 

withdrawal of the revenue amendment did not comprise a section 54 TMA agreement, and 

there was no such actual agreement made between the parties in connection with the discovery 

assessment or its subject matter. HMRC are not therefore estopped from litigating the October 

2020 discovery assessment in these appeals. 

Penalties 

198. HMRC had originally assessed the company to a penalty based on deliberate behaviour 

in respect of the December 2014 accounting period, but subsequently adjusted that and assessed 

the company to a penalty based on careless behaviour for that period. 

199. This is clear from HMRC's letter of 23 November 2020. The letter also suggests that the 

penalty for the 2015 accounting period was also based on careless behaviour. Yet Mr Marks, 

in his closing submissions, suggested that it was based on deliberate behaviour. And so should 

be reduced from 42% to 19.5%. But no matter. 

200. However, it is our view that the company has not acted carelessly in respect of either the 

2014 or 2015 accounting periods.  

201. As Mr Marks fairly points out, the situation is different when assessing a penalty under 

schedule 24 FA 2007 from that which is relevant to the issue of the assessment in the first place 

which is pursuant to schedule 18 Finance Act 1998. In the former, carelessness must be tested 

from the perspective of the taxpayer, whereas for the latter, as has been seen, carelessness 

depends on the behaviour not just of the taxpayer but also of an agent acting on the taxpayer's 

behalf. 

202. As regards the October 2020 discovery assessment we have found that GT were careless. 

203. We have also found, as regards the question of GT's knowledge that the loan was secured, 

that there was carelessness either by them or by the company. 

204. But it is for HMRC to establish, when it comes to penalties, that the company has been 

careless. And our finding that either the company or GT was careless as regards the security 

for the loan is insufficient to discharge the burden of showing that the company has been 

careless. 

205.  Mr Marks submits that even if this was the case, the advice was not followed, and no 

advice was sought in the final repayment position or the deductions for corporation tax 

purposes actually claimed in the return. 

206. In our view the GT report is abundantly clear that GT's view was that there was no 

connected parties loan relationship and thus the company could take a tax-deductible debit 

against its profits for the debt write-off.  

207. On the basis of this advice the company submitted its corporation tax returns claiming 

the tax deduction.  
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208. So, we do not think that the company has done anything wrong here. It was party to 

advice given by a highly reputable firm of accountants and was entitled to rely on that advice. 

That advice was that it could take a tax deduction as aforesaid, which the company then did in 

its tax returns. 

209. We therefore find that the company did not act carelessly in respect of the penalties to 

which it was assessed on this issue.  

THE PETTY CASH ISSUE 

210. This issue is comparatively straightforward. The company claims that the first appellant 

had taken out and used for business purposes £11,630 of petty cash. He then spent this, wholly 

and exclusively, on business expenses. The entire amount, therefore, is tax-deductible. HMRC 

do not think that the company has provided sufficient evidence that the expenses have been 

incurred wholly and exclusively for the purposes of the company's trade. They have accepted 

that 30% are business expenditure, but the balance, £8,141, is not deductible. HMRC have also 

assessed the company to a penalty on the basis of careless behaviour. 

211. The first appellant's evidence was that the money taken from petty cash was taken for 

him to pay for business visas, tips, taxes, lunches, drinks and general incidental expenditure 

when he was out of the country for weeks at a time visiting overseas suppliers, and in particular 

in India and Sri Lanka, where cash was required as there was no other way to pay for such 

expenses. 

212. Mr Smith submits that it is for HMRC to show that this expenditure had a non-business 

purpose. But this is not correct. Having assessed the first appellant, the burden is on the first 

appellant to show that the expenditure was incurred wholly and exclusively for business 

purposes. 

213. Mr Marks submits that there is no basis on which we can disturb the assessment since no 

satisfactory evidence has been submitted to us showing it was incorrect, nor what the correct 

amount is more likely to have been. 

214. And, given that there is no documentary evidence of the matters on which the expenditure 

was incurred, we will never know precisely what the expenditure was on. 

215. We accept this last point. But there is evidence, which was not accepted by Officer 

Heatley as to the nature of the expenditure on which we can base an alternative amount of 

business expenditure. That evidence comes, of course, from the first appellant. We accept his 

evidence that the money was used on business expenditure, not just for his expenses but also 

for those employees of the company who accompanied him on such trips. We also accept his 

evidence that paying for the matters for which he used the petty cash was important to his 

business relationships. 

216. However, it is inevitable that a certain amount of the expenditure would have had a 

personal benefit for not just the first appellant but also for the other employees who 

accompanied him. It is difficult to quantify this, but we think this is likely to be 20% of the 

total expenditure. 

217. It is our view therefore that 80% of the £11,630 of petty cash which is in issue in this 

appeal was incurred wholly and exclusively for business purposes and is thus tax-deductible 

for the first appellant. 
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218. We agree with HMRC that the behaviour which led to the "over claiming" of the 

deduction is careless as there was very little verification undertaken by the first appellant to 

justify the deduction. 

219. So, as for NIC penalty for the first appellant, we direct that HMRC reassess the penalty 

in respect of the petty cash deduction. It should be based on careless behaviour and on 20% of 

the £11,630. In the absence of any agreement, then either side may apply to the tribunal for the 

matter be determined. 

DECISION 

220. It is our decision that: 

(1)  The first appellant's appeals against the October 2019 discovery assessments and the 

penalty assessments issued on 6 November 2019 are dismissed. 

(2) The company's appeal against the section 8 NIC decision dated 6 November 2019 is 

dismissed. 

(3) The company's appeal against the NIC penalty of £22,125 is allowed, but the penalty 

assessment is to be recalculated, by HMRC, on the basis of careless rather than deliberate 

behaviour. Any issues regarding this recalculation may be referred to the tribunal for resolution. 

(4) The company's appeals against the October 2020 discovery assessment (in respect of the 

December 2014 accounting period) and the closure notice of 11 October 2019 (in respect of 

the December 2015 accounting period) are dismissed. 

(5) The company's appeals against the penalties in relation to the loan relationship issue are 

allowed. 

(6) The company's appeal against the petty cash issue is allowed in part. 80% of the 

expenditure shall be treated as tax-deductible. The penalty shall be based on careless behaviour. 

HMRC will recompute both amounts and in the absence of agreement between the parties, the 

matter can be brought back before the tribunal for determination. 

RIGHT TO APPLY FOR PERMISSION TO APPEAL 

221. This document contains full findings of fact and reasons for the decision.  Any party 

dissatisfied with this decision has a right to apply for permission to appeal against it pursuant 

to Rule 39 of the Tribunal Procedure (First-tier Tribunal) (Tax Chamber) Rules 2009.  The 

application must be received by this Tribunal not later than 56 days after this decision is sent 

to that party.  The parties are referred to “Guidance to accompany a Decision from the First-

tier Tribunal (Tax Chamber)” which accompanies and forms part of this decision notice. 

 

 

NIGEL POPPLEWELL 

TRIBUNAL JUDGE 

 

Release date: 08th JANUARY 2024 
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APPENDIX 

 

LEGISLATION 

 

CORPORATION TAX ACT 2009 

 

304 “Related transaction” 

(1) In this Part “related transaction”, in relation to a loan relationship, means any disposal or 

acquisition (in whole or in part) of rights or liabilities under the relationship. 

(2)  For this purpose the cases where there is taken to be such a disposal and acquisition include 

those where rights or liabilities under the loan relationship are transferred or extinguished by 

any sale, gift, exchange, surrender, redemption or release. 

307 General principles about the bringing into account of credits and debits 

(1)  This Part operates by reference to the accounts of companies and amounts recognised for 

accounting purposes. 

(2)  The general rule is that the amounts to be brought into account by a company as credits and 

debits for any period for the purposes of this Part [ in respect of the matters mentioned in section 

306A(1)  are those that are recognised in determining the company's profit or loss for the period 

in accordance with generally accepted accounting practice… 

308 Amounts recognised in determining a company's profit or loss 

(1) References in this Part to an amount recognised in determining a company's profit or loss for a 

period are references to an amount that is recognised in the company's accounts for the period 

as an item of profit or loss… 

348 Introduction: meaning of “connected companies relationship” 

(1)  This Chapter contains some general rules relating to connected companies relationships. 

(2)  For the purposes of this Part a debtor relationship of a company is a connected companies 

relationship if there is a connection between— 

(a) the company, and 

(b) another company standing in the position of a creditor as respects the debt in question. 

(3)  For the purposes of subsection (2) a company is treated as standing in the position of a creditor 

if it indirectly stands in that position by reference to a series of loan relationships or relevant 

money debts. 

(4)  For the purposes of this Part a creditor relationship of a company is a connected companies 

relationship if there is a connection between— 

(a) the company, and 

(b) another company standing in the position of a debtor as respects the debt in question. 
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(5) For the purposes of subsection (4) a company is treated as standing in the position of a debtor if 

it indirectly stands in that position by reference to a series of loan relationships or relevant 

money debts. 

(6) For the purposes of this Part, if a loan relationship is a connected companies relationship at any 

time in an accounting period, it is treated as being such a relationship for the period. 

(7)  In this section “relevant money debt” means a money debt which would be a loan relationship 

if a company directly stood in the position of creditor or debtor. 

(8)  Section 466 (companies connected for an accounting period) applies for the purposes of this 

section. 

349 Application of amortised cost basis to connected companies relationships 

(1)  This section applies if a loan relationship is a connected companies relationship for an 

accounting period. 

(2)  The credits and debits which are to be brought into account for the purposes of this Part in 

respect of the relationship for the period are determined on an amortised cost basis of 

accounting.  

354 Exclusion of debits for impaired or released connected companies debts 

(1) The general rule is that no impairment loss or release debit in respect of a company's creditor 

relationship is to be brought into account for the purposes of this Part for an accounting period 

if section 349 (application of amortised cost basis to connected companies relationship) applies 

to the relationship for the period… 

441 Loan relationships for unallowable purposes 

(1)  This section applies if in any accounting period a loan relationship of a company has an 

unallowable purpose. 

(2)  The company may not bring into account for that period for the purposes of this Part so much 

of any credit in respect of exchange gains from that relationship as on a just and reasonable 

apportionment is attributable to the unallowable purpose. 

(3)  The company may not bring into account for that period for the purposes of this Part so much of 

any debit in respect of that relationship as on a just and reasonable apportionment is attributable 

to the unallowable purpose. 

 (3A)  If— 

(a) a credit brought into account for that period for the purposes of this Part by the company 

would (in the absence of this section) be reduced, and 

(b) the reduction represents an amount which, if it did not reduce a credit, would be brought 

into account as a debit in respect of that relationship, subsection (3) applies to the amount 

of the reduction as if it were an amount that would (in the absence of this section) be brought 

into account as a debit. 

(4)  An amount which would be brought into account for the purposes of this Part as respects any 
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matter apart from this section is treated for the purposes of section 464(1) (amounts brought 

into account under this Part excluded from being otherwise brought into account) as if it were 

so brought into account. 

(5)  Accordingly, that amount is not to be brought into account for corporation tax purposes as 

respects that matter either under this Part or otherwise. 

(6)  For the meaning of “has an unallowable purpose” and “the unallowable purpose” in this section, 

see section 442. 

442 Meaning of “unallowable purpose” 

(1)  For the purposes of section 441 a loan relationship of a company has an unallowable purpose 

in an accounting period if, at times during that period, the purposes for which the company— 

(a) is a party to the relationship, or 

(b) enters into transactions which are related transactions by reference to it, 

include a purpose (“the unallowable purpose”) which is not amongst the business or other commercial 

purposes of the company. 

(1A)  In subsection (1)(b) “related transaction”, in relation to a loan relationship, includes anything 

which equates in substance to a disposal or acquisition of the kind mentioned in section 304(1) 

(as read with section 304(2)).  

(2)  If a company is not within the charge to corporation tax in respect of a part of its activities, for 

the purposes of this section the business and other commercial purposes of the company do not 

include the purposes of that part. 

(3)  Subsection (4) applies if a tax avoidance purpose is one of the purposes for which a company—  

(a) is a party to a loan relationship at any time, or 

(b) enters into a transaction which is a related transaction by reference to a loan relationship 

of the company. 

(4)  For the purposes of subsection (1) the tax avoidance purpose is only regarded as a business or 

other commercial purpose of the company if it is not— 

(a) the main purpose for which the company is a party to the loan relationship or, as the case 

may be, enters into the related transaction, or 

(b) one of the main purposes for which it is or does so. 

(5)  The references in subsections (3) and (4) to a tax avoidance purpose are references to any 

purpose which consists of securing a tax advantage for the company or any other person. 

466 Companies connected for an accounting period 

(1)  This section and sections 467 to 471 have effect for the purposes of any provisions of this Part 

which apply this section (but this does not affect the application of section 1316(1) (meaning 

of “connected” persons) for other purposes of this Part). 
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(2)  There is a connection between a company (“A”) and another company (“B”) for an accounting 

period if there is a time in the period when— 

(a) A controls B, 

(b) B controls A, or 

(c) A and B are both controlled by the same person 

… 

(6)  Section 472 (meaning of “control”) applies for the purposes of this section. 

472 Meaning of “control” 

(1)  This section has effect for the purposes of any provisions of this Part which apply this section 

(but this does not affect the application of section 1316(2) (meaning of “control”) for other 

purposes of this Part). 

(2)  For those purposes “control”, in relation to a company, means the power of a person to secure 

that the affairs of the company are conducted in accordance with the person's wishes— 

(a) by means of the holding of shares or the possession of voting power in or in relation to 

the company or any other company, or 

(b) as a result of any powers conferred by the articles of association or other document 

regulating the company or any other company… 

SCHEDULE 18 FINANCE ACT 1998 

Amendment of return after enquiry 

34.—  

(1)  This paragraph applies where a partial or final closure notice is given to a company by an 

officer. 

(2)  The partial or final closure notice must state the officer's conclusions and  – 

(a) state that, in the officer's opinion, no amendment is required of the return that was the 

subject of the enquiry, or 

(b) make the amendments of that return that are required– 

(i) to give effect to the conclusions stated in the notice, and 

(ii) in the case of a return for the wrong period, to make it a return appropriate to the 

designated period. 

(2A)  The officer may by further notice to the company make any amendments of other company tax 

returns delivered by the company that are required to give effect to the conclusions stated in 

the partial or final closure notice. 
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(3) An appeal may be brought against an amendment of a company's return under sub-paragraph 

(2) or (2A) . 

(4)  Notice of appeal must be 

given— 

(a) in writing, 

(b) within 30 days after the amendment was notified to the company, 

(c)  to the officer of the Board by whom the partial or final closure notice was given. 

(5)  In this paragraph “the designated period” means the period designated in the partial or final 

closure notice. 

Assessment where loss of tax discovered or determination of amount discovered to be incorrect 

41.—  

(1)  If an officer of Revenue and Customs discover as regards an accounting period of a company 

that— 

(a) an amount which ought to have been assessed to tax has not been assessed, or  

(b)  an assessment to tax is or has become insufficient, or 

(c)  relief has been given which is or has become excessive, 

they may make an assessment (a “discovery assessment”) in the amount or further amount 

which ought in their opinion to be charged in order to make good to the Crown the loss 

of tax. 

(2)  If an officer of Revenue and Customs discover that a company tax return delivered by a 

company for an accounting period incorrectly states— 

(a) an amount that affects, or may affect, the tax payable by that company for another 

accounting period, or 

(b) an amount that affects, or may affect, the tax liability of another company. 

they may make a determination (a “discovery determination”) of the amount which in their 

opinion ought to have been stated in the return. 

43.  

A discovery assessment for an accounting period for which the company has delivered a company tax 

return, or a discovery determination, may be made if the situation mentioned in paragraph 41(1) or 

(2) was brought about carelessly or deliberately by- 

(a)   the company, or 

(b)   a person acting on behalf of the company, or 

(c)   a person who was a partner of the company at the relevant time. 
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46.—  

(1) Subject to any provision of the Taxes Acts allowing a longer period in any particular class of 

case no assessment may be made more than 4 years after the end of the accounting period to 

which it relates. 

(2)  An assessment in a case involving a loss of tax brought about carelessly by the company (or a 

related person) may be made at any time not more than 6 years after the end of the accounting 

period to which it relates (subject to sub-paragraph (2A) and to any other provision of the Taxes Acts 

allowing a longer period). 

INTERPRETATION ACT 1978 

Interpretation and construction 

6  Gender and number. 

In any Act, unless the contrary intention appears,— 

(a)  words importing the masculine gender include the feminine;  

(b)  words importing the feminine gender include the masculine;  

(c)  words in the singular include the plural and words in the plural include the 

singular. 

TAXES MANAGEMENT ACT 1970 

54  Settling of appeals by agreement 

……. 

54(1)   Subject to the provisions of this section, where a person gives notice of appeal and, before the 

appeal is determined by the tribunal, the inspector or other proper officer of the Crown and the appellant 

come to an agreement, whether in writing or otherwise, that the assessment or decision under appeal 

should be treated as upheld without variation, or as varied in a particular manner or as discharged or 

cancelled, the like consequences shall ensue for all purposes as would have ensued if, at the time when 

the agreement was come to, the tribunal had determined the appeal and had upheld the assessment or 

decision without variation, had varied it in that manner or had discharged or cancelled it, as the 

case may be. 

54(2)   Subsection (1) of this section shall not apply where, within thirty days from the date when the 

agreement was come to, the appellant gives notice in writing to the inspector or other proper officer of 

the Crown that he desires to repudiate or resile from the agreement. 

54(3)   Where an agreement is not in writing– 

(a) the preceding provisions of this section shall not apply unless the fact that an agreement 

was come to, and the terms agreed, are confirmed by notice in writing given by the 

inspector or other proper officer of the Crown to the appellant or by the appellant to the 

inspector or other proper officer; and 

(b) the references in the said preceding provisions to the time when the agreement was come 

to shall be construed as references to the time of the giving of the said notice of 

confirmation. 
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54(4)  Where– 

(a) a person who has given a notice of appeal notifies the inspector or other proper officer of 

the Crown, whether orally or in writing, that he desires not to proceed with the appeal; and 

(b) thirty days have elapsed since the giving of the notification without the inspector or other 

proper officer giving to the appellant notice in writing indicating that he is unwilling that the 

appeal should be treated as withdrawn, the preceding provisions of this section shall have 

effect as if, at the date of the appellant’s notification, the appellant and the inspector or other 

proper officer had come to an agreement, orally or in writing, as the case may be, that the 

assessment or decision under appeal should be upheld without variation. 

54(5)   The references in this section to an agreement being come to with an appellant and the giving 

of notice or notification to or by an appellant include references to an agreement being come to with, 

and the giving of notice or notification to or by, a person acting on behalf of the appellant in relation 

to the appeal. 

114  Want of form or errors not to invalidate assessments, etc. 

114(1)  An assessment or determination, warrant or other proceeding which purports to be made in 

pursuance of any provision of the Taxes Acts shall not be quashed, or deemed to be void or voidable, 

for want of form, or be affected by reason of a mistake, defect or omission therein, if the same is in 

substance and effect in conformity with or according to the intent and meaning of the Taxes 

Acts, and if the person or property charged or intended to be charged or affected thereby is 

designated therein according to common intent and understanding. 

114(2)  An assessment or determination shall not be impeached or affected– 

(a) by reason of a mistake therein as to– 

(i) the name or surname of a person liable, or 

(ii) the description of any profits or property, or 

(iii) the amount of the tax charged, or 

(b) by reason of any variance between the notice and the assessment or determination. 

 

 


